ABANDONED MINE SITE INVESTIGATION OF THE BULLION MINE SITE ALONG JACK AND JILL CREEKS, MONTANA

Prepared for:

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Sacramento District and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Omaha District

Prepared By:

Bitterroot Restoration, Inc. 445 Quast Lane Corvallis, MT 59828



July 28, 2003

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0	PF	ROJECT GOALS AND OBJECTIVES	1
2.0	PF	ROJECT SETTING	1
3.0	PF	ROJECT BACKGROUND	2
4.0	SI	TE ASSESSMENT METHODS	3
4	.1	Project Planning	3
		4.1.1 Health and Safety Plans	3
		4.1.2 Sampling Methodology	3
		4.1.3 Sample Identification Scheme	4
4	.2	Field Investigation Activities	4
4	.3	Boundary Delineation	5
4	.4	Mine Waste and Soil Sampling	8
4	.5	Surface Water Sampling	8
4	.6	Sediment Samples	11
4	.7	Riparian Health Assessment	11
4	.8	Rosgen Stream Classification—Level II	12
4	.9	Volume of Contaminated Material	12
4	.10) Topographic/Site Features Survey	14
4	.11	Quality Assurance and Control (QC)	14
5.0	\mathbf{L}	ABORATORY ANALYSIS	15
5	.1	Mine Waste and Soil Analysis	15
5	.2	Surface Water and Sediment Analysis	15
6.0	D	ATA SCREENING CRITERIA	16
6	5.1	Mine Waste and Soil Standards	16
6	5.2	Surface and Groundwater Standards	16
7.0	R	ESULTS AND DISCUSSION	17
7	.1	Mine Waste and Soil Results and Discussion	17
		7.1.1 Total Metals from Field XRF Results	18
		7.1.2 Total Metals from Laboratory Results	18
		7.1.3 Statistical Comparison of XRF Results and Laboratory Results	18
		7.1.4 Water-Extractable Metals Results for Soils and Mine Wastes	21
		7.1.5 pH and Conductivity Results for Soils and Mine Wastes	22
		7.1.6 Acid-Base Accounting Results for Soils and Mine Wastes	22
7	.2	Surface Water Quality Results and Discussion	23
7	.3	Streambed Sediment Results and Discussion	26
7	.4	Riparian Health Assessment	27
7	.5	Hydrologic and Geomorphic Characteristics (Rosgen Stream Classification)	28
7	.6	Volume Estimate of Contaminated Materials	30
8.0	C	ONCLUSIONS	30
9.0	R	EFERENCES	32

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1.	SITE LOCATION MAP	2
FIGURE 2.	SUBREACH BOUNDARIES & CROSS-SECTION LOCATIONS	7
FIGURE 3.	MINE WASTE AND SOIL SAMPLE LOCATIONS	.10
FIGURE 4.	VOLUME ESTIMATE SAMPLE LOCATIONS	13
FIGURE 5.	ARSENIC CONCENTRATIONS IN MINE WASTE AND SOIL SAMPLES	19
FIGURE 6.	LEAD CONCENTRATIONS IN MINE WASTE AND SOIL SAMPLES	20
FIGURE 7.	SURFACE WATER QUALITY RESULTS	. 24

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 5.1 TOTAL METALS ANALYSIS	15
TABLE 5.2 WATER EXTRACTABLE METALS ANALYSIS	15
TABLE 5.3 WATER AND STREAMBED SEDIMENT ANALYSES	15
TABLE 6.1 EPA CLEANUP GUIDELINES FOR FIVE CHEMICALS OF POTENTIAL	
CONCERN FOR RECREATIONAL VISITORS	16
TABLE 6.2 WATER QUALITY GUIDELINES	16
TABLE 7.1 COMPARISON OF ANALYTIC RESULTS FOR SOIL VERSUS MINE WAS'	ΤЕ
SAMPLES	17
TABLE 7.2 TOTAL METAL CONCENTRATIONS FROM FIELD XRF RESULTS	18
TABLE 7.3 TOTAL METAL CONCENTRATIONS FROM LABORATORY RESULTS	18
TABLE 7.4 LEAST SQUARES COMPARISON OF LOG-CORRECTED METAL	21
CONCENTRATIONS VIA ICP AND FIELD XRF	21
TABLE 7.5 WATER-EXTRACTABLE METAL CONCENTRATIONS OF SOILS AND	21
MINE WASTES VIA ICP	21
TABLE 7.6 PH AND CONDUCTIVITY VALUES OF SOILS AND MINE WASTES	22
TABLE 7.7 ACID-BASE ACCOUNTING RESULTS FOR SOILS AND MINE WASTES	22
TABLE 7.8 WATER SAMPLE RESULTS	23
TABLE 7.9 COMPARISON OF WATER SAMPLE RESULTS JACK CREEK VERSUS JI	LL
CREEK	23
TABLE 7.10 WATER QUALITY SAMPLE COMPLIANCE WITH HUMAN HEALTH	
STANDARDS	25
TABLE 7.11 WATER QUALITY SAMPLE COMPLIANCE WITH AQUATIC LIFE	
STANDARDS	25
TABLE 7.12 SEDIMENT ANALYTICAL RESULTS	26
TABLE 7.13 COMPARISON OF ANALYTICAL RESULTS FOR JACK CREEK AND JII	ĹL
CREEK	26
TABLE 7.14 COMPLIANCE WITH EPA CLEANUP GUIDELINES FOR	
RECREATIONALISTS	27
TABLE 7.15 RIPARIAN HEALTH ASSESSMENT RESULTS, FUNCTIONAL	28
SCORES, & HABITAT TYPES	28
TABLE 7.16 HYDROLOGIC AND GEOMORPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	29
TABLE 7.17 VOLUME ESTIMATE OF CONTAMINATED MATERIALS	30

APPENDICES

- Appendix A. Bullion Investigative Field Notes
- Appendix B. Topographic/Site Features Survey of the Impacted Area at Bullion Mine
- Appendix C. Riparian Assessment Data and Rosgen Stream Classification Calculations
- Appendix D. Volume of Contaminated Material Calculations
- Appendix E. SVL Laboratory Raw Analytic Results
- Appendix F. XRF Field Analytical Results for Total Metals
- Appendix G. Statistical Procedures (Student's t-Test, Least Squares Regressions)

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In the fall of 2002, Bitterroot Restoration, Inc. (BRI) completed fieldwork for a site characterization of the Bullion Mine project site along Jack and Jill Creeks, which are located on Federal lands within the Basin Mining District, Montana. The purpose of the site assessment was to determine the nature and extent of potential contamination on the site, to broadly assess possible impacts to human health and the environment, and to recommend whether or not affected materials should be removed. The findings of this site investigation will help guide future efforts to manage contaminated materials in the watershed and to restore the Jack and Jill Creek drainages.

The Bullion Mine project site is located on a half-mile stretch of two tributaries, known locally as Jack and Jill Creeks. Jill Creek is a tributary to Jack Creek, while Jack Creek subsequently leads to Basin Creek, a major tributary of the Boulder River. The Basin Creek Drainage contains mining and milling waste associated with numerous historic mining and milling sites. On October 22, 1999, United States Environmental Protection Agency added the Basin Creek Drainage, including the Bullion Mine and Milling Complex, to the National Priorities List. Currently, the United States Forest Service and United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) are partners in a Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA) response action at the mine and mill site. The Jack and Jill Creek project site contains eroded tailings that have re-deposited downstream from the mine and mill site.

This characterization occurred from July 2002 through March 2003. The field investigation took place over six days, from September 23 through September 28, 2002. Fieldwork was conducted by Bitterroot Restoration, Inc. and EMC². A topographic/site features survey of the mine-waste impacted area was completed by Territorial Engineering and Surveying, a licensed professional surveying company. Data analysis and reporting occurred from March 15 to March 21, 2003.

The field initiative involved: 1) collecting nine mine waste samples and nine soil samples, as well as the field analysis of 45 mine waste samples and 46 soil samples by X-ray fluorescence (XRF); 2) collecting surface water and sediment samples from seven stream cross-sections; 3) gathering stream hydrological information; 4) estimating the volume of contaminated soils; and 5) assessing the riparian health, including the types, health, and density of riparian vegetation, as well as geomorphic features, of the injured area.

The results from this site investigation indicate that the levels of contamination in and around Jack and Jill Creeks exceed established protective limits for recreational populations. Arsenic is the major chemical of potential concern (COPC) in the system. Chemicals of potential concern are those metals present at concentrations elevated with respect to local conditions. They are determined by comparing concentrations of metals at the site to a body of data representative of local conditions unaffected by site activities (Human and Ecological Risk Division, Dept. of Toxic Substances Control, California EPA, 1997).

Seventy-two percent of soil and mine waste samples contained arsenic concentrations above chemical of potential concern limits of recreational visitors, and the average arsenic concentration in these samples was over three times higher than the concentration limits for

recreational populations. In addition, all streambed sediments collected exceeded Montana's chemicals of potential concern soil arsenic exposure limit for recreational users of 700 parts per million. Lead concentrations are also of concern with 39 percent of soil and mine waste samples containing concentrations above chemicals of potential concern limits for recreational visitor concentrations. The surface water in Jack and Jill Creeks also shows elevated levels of chemicals of potential concern. This is the likely cause of the complete absence of observed aquatic life in the injured area on Jack and Jill Creeks. Jill Creek is more impacted than Jack Creek. Water samples from Jill Creek display concentrations of arsenic, cadmium, zinc, and lead above the Montana water quality standards for human health concentrations.

Additionally, the surface water was acidic (5.81 pH) on Jill Creek, reflecting both its closer proximity to the acid mine drainage of the Bullion Mine site, as well as the slight dilution effect occurring below the confluence with Jack Creek.

The riparian health assessments also indicate that the ecological integrity of the system is compromised. Many parts of the flood-prone zone are devoid of vegetation, likely due to the high concentrations of metals in the floodplain soils. In addition, the channels of both Jill and Jack Creeks are moderately to significantly entrenched, reflecting probable historic changes in the hydrology of the system.

Based upon the results of the site investigation, Jack and Jill Creek are significantly impacted, with levels of chemicals of potential concern in the floodplain materials, streambed sediments and water exceeding the limits for recreational exposure and human health. It is recommended that approximately 284,157 cubic feet of contaminated tailings materials be removed, the impacted stream channel and floodplain areas be reconstructed, and the impacted riparian zone be restored.

1.0 PROJECT GOALS AND OBJECTIVES

The fieldwork for a site characterization of the Bullion Mine project site along Jack and Jill Creeks, which are located on Federal lands within the Basin Mining District, Montana, was completed in the fall of 2002. The purpose of the assessment was to determine the nature and extent of potential contamination, to broadly assess possible impacts to human health and the environment, and to recommend whether or not affected materials should be removed. The findings of this investigation will help guide future efforts to manage contaminated materials in the watershed and to restore the Jack and Jill Creek drainages.

This document has been prepared in fulfillment of the requirements of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers contract DACW05-01-D-0019 / Bullion, delivery order no. 003.

2.0 PROJECT SETTING

The Bullion Mine project site is located on a half-mile stretch of two tributaries, known as Jack and Jill Creeks. Jill Creek is a tributary to Jack Creek, while Jack Creek subsequently leads to Basin Creek, a major tributary of the Boulder River. The creeks are part of the Basin Creek Drainage, which is within the Beaverhead-Deerlodge National Forest approximately eight miles north of Basin, Montana in Section 13 and 14 Township 7 North, and Range 6 West, Montana Principle Meridian. The site location is illustrated in Figure 1.

Elevations at the Bullion Mine site span from 6,610 to 6,790 feet (2,015 to 2,070 meters). The surrounding vegetation is dominated by coniferous forest – predominately lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*), Engelmann spruce (*Picea engelmannii*), and subalpine fir (*Abies lasiocarpa*) – with numerous shrub species, including grouse whortleberry (*Vaccinium scoparium*), Labrador tea (*Ledum glandulosum*) and mountain alder (*Alnus incana*), in the understory. Drummond's willow (*Salix drummondii*), bluejoint reedgrass (*Calamagrostis canadensis*), water sedge (*Carex aquatilis*), and field horsetail (*Equisetum arvense*) are the principal species in the wide marshy



Forested riparian area in Reference Reach

floodplains.

Average temperatures in this region range from a minimum of 8.9° F (-12.8° C) in January to a maximum of 82.2° F (27.9° C) in July. The annual average precipitation is less than 12 inches (30.5 cm) and the average annual total snowfall is between 2 and 3 feet (61 to 91 cm) (Western Regional Climate Center 2002).





Bullion Mine Site Jefferson County, Montana Source: NRIS 1:250,000 DRG

3.0 PROJECT BACKGROUND

The Basin Creek Drainage contains mining and milling waste associated with numerous historical mining and milling sites. On October 22, 1999, United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) added the Basin Creek Drainage, including the Bullion Mine and Milling Complex, to the National Priorities List. Currently, the United States Forest Service and



Eroded tailings piles, re-deposited on Jack Creek

United States EPA are partners in a Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA) response action at the mine and mill site. The Jack and Jill Creeks project site contains eroded tailings that have re-deposited downstream from the Bullion mine and mill. The re-deposition of eroded tailings are highly visible on the privately owned riparian corridor directly downstream of the Jack and Jill Creek project site. It is beyond the scope of this project, however, to address historic mining impacts outside of USFS boundaries.

4.0 SITE ASSESSMENT METHODS

4.1 Project Planning

The Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs), outlined in the *Restoration of Abandoned Mine Sites Final Workplan* (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Omaha District, 2002), were adhered to during the course of this field investigation: A1 (Surface Soil/Rock Sampling Equipment and Procedures); A3 (Subsurface Soil/Rock Sampling Equipment and Procedures); A4 (Soil/Rock Homogenization Equipment and Procedures); A7 (Investigative Derived Waste Procedures); A11 (Surface Water and Sediment Sampling Equipment and Procedures), A12 (Equipment Decontamination Procedures); A13 (Sample Handling, Documentation, and Tracking Procedures); and A14 (Field Documentation).

4.1.1 Health and Safety Plans

Prior to conducting fieldwork, BRI developed a health and safety plan for the Bullion project. Information on health and safety issues associated with this field effort may be found in the Bullion Site Safety and Health Plan (SSHP), Sept. 2002.

4.1.2 Sampling Methodology

Sampling plans were developed for the collection of surface water, sediment, soil, and mine waste material. Information on sampling methods followed is found in *The Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs), Surface Soil/Rock Sampling Equipment and Procedures* (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Omaha District, 2002).

4.1.3 Sample Identification Scheme

The sample identification (ID) scheme for soil and mine waste samples, described in *The Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs)* (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Omaha District, 2002) used the following designation.

AB-CC-DD-EEE where:

A = Designation of sampling area location - B (For Bullion)

 $\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{T}$ for mine tailings sample; S for soil sample

- **CC** = A numerical digit that indicates if the sample is normal, a duplicate, or a confirmation. 01 = Normal; 02 = Duplicate; 04 = Confirmation (analyzed by XRF and at the laboratory)
- DD = A numerical digit that indicates the depth from which the sample is extracted. 01 = between 0 and 1 foot; 02 = greater than 1 foot to 2 feet; 03 = greater than 2 feet to 3 feet; 04 = greater than 3 feet to 4 feet;
- **EEE** = two or three digit sample identification number

For example, a confirmation soil sample collected from a depth of 1.5 feet at the Bullion Mine site would be coded B-S-0402100. The last three digits (100) are the sample identification number.

The sample ID scheme for water and stream sediment samples used the designation below. **AA-CSB-CCC** where:

AA= Designation of sampling area location – MT (For Bullion, in Montana) CSB = Three character identification code that identifies the sample with the subreach where it was collected. CS stands for "Cross-Section."

CCC = Identifies if the sample is water (H2O) or sediment (SED)

For example, a sediment sample collected from Subreach C at the Bullion Mine site in Montana would be coded MT-CSC-SED.

4.2 Field Investigation Activities

This investigation occurred from July 2002 through March 2003. The field investigation, described in the *Site Specific Addendum to RAMS General Work Plan and Safety and Health Plan for Bullion Mine* (Bitterroot Restoration, Inc. [BRI], 2002), took place over six days, from September 23 through September 28, 2002. The first project task involved developing sampling and safety plans in mid-summer 2002. Fieldwork was conducted by BRI and EMC². A topographic/site features survey of the mine waste impacted area was completed by Territorial Engineering and Surveying, Inc., a licensed professional surveying company. Data analysis and reporting occurred from March 15 to March 21, 2003.

Upon arrival at the project site, the field team first delineated the boundary of the injured area. The field team then collected mine waste, soil, surface water, and sediment data; estimated the depth and extent of contaminated material; and completed riparian health assessments. Finally, Territorial Engineering and Surveying, Inc. created a topographic site map on one-foot contours, delineated areas of interest, and surveyed all sampling locations (See Appendix B). Field notes from the field investigation are contained in Appendix A.

4.3 Boundary Delineation

Delineating the project boundary first involved a physical examination of the project site. Boundary limits were based upon visual clues regarding the extent of contamination including: the absence of ground cover; type, quantity, and diversity of plant species; the location of the flood plain; old stream channels; tailings/waste materials; and erosion features on either side of the stream. Boundaries were subsequently confirmed or relocated according to contamination levels recorded with X-ray Fluorescence (XRF). White flags were placed every 100 feet along the border of the project site. Boundaries were used to determine the extent of the survey, to delineate the riparian assessment survey subreaches, and to provide XRF sampling boundaries. Sampling location coordinates, obtained from a hand-held Garmin Etrex Global Positioning System (GPS) device with an accuracy of 15 meters, were recorded in the field logbook. The boundaries and sampling locations were also mapped by Territorial Engineering and Surveying, Inc. The survey met minimum conventional theodolite traverse control standards (third order geodetic control and 1:5000 accuracy).

In addition to boundary determinations, the project area was divided into seven subreaches, which are displayed in Figure 2. Subreach boundaries were based on hydrologic and geomorphic changes within the stream channel, distinct changes in mine waste deposition, and by vegetation characteristics within the riparian zone. Subreaches are described below sequentially from the top (highest elevation) boundary on Jill Creek to the lower boundary on Jack Creek at the USFS property line.

Subreach A is located at the top boundary of the injured area on Jill Creek. This short segment ranges from 6774 feet to 6790 feet in elevation. It is characterized as a boulder/step pool stream sequence with a steep incline and a narrow floodplain. The riparian zone associated with this subreach should be lush and somewhat impenetrable. Instead, it is sparsely vegetated, consisting of bare ground and numerous dead lodgepole pine, Engelmann spruce, and subalpine fir. The large, woody debris is making its way to the channel area.

Subreach B, located on Jill Creek directly below Subreach A, is characterized as a boulder/log cascade sequence with a very steep incline. Elevations range from 6714 to 6774 feet. The vegetation types and characteristics are similar to those described in Subreach A.

Subreach C is characterized as a woody debris stream sequence with a moderate incline. With elevations ranging from 6664 to 6714 feet, this subreach is located on Jill Creek directly below Subreach B. The floodplain in this subreach widens dramatically to encompass extensive



Woody debris stream sequence, Subreach C

overflow channels on the right side of the stream.

Subreach D runs from a logjam on Jill Creek below Subreach C to the confluence of Jack and Jill Creeks. With elevations ranging from 6645 to 6664 feet, it is characterized as a boulder/step pool stream sequence with a steep incline and moderate floodplain width. It is braided with a side channel on the right (looking downstream), and an inundated zone on the left (looking downstream) that is composed of wetland graminoids. Similar to Subreaches A, B, and C, Subreach D is sparsely vegetated.

Subreach E starts at the confluence of Jack and Jill Creeks. The highest elevation on this



Confluence of Jack and Jill Creeks

Subreach F, situated directly below Subreach E, is characterized as a slow-moving logjam stream sequence with a moderate incline. The elevation ranges from 6616 to 6622 feet. The surrounding floodplain zone is wide and contains a historic beaver dam complex. Large tailings piles exist here, and the current system has cut back down to an equilibrium channel elevation.

subreach is 6664 feet, while the lowest is 6622 feet. It is characterized as a flat, moderately wide, highly braided stream delta. The additional discharge from Jack Creek has flushed the floodplain relatively free of tailings.



Tailings piles at historic beaver dam complex



Forested riparian zone on Subreach G

Subreach G has a moderate incline, with elevations ranging from 6607 to 6616 feet. The lower boundary of this subreach is defined by the USFS property line, and the upper boundary is immediately below the main beaver complex (Subreach F). This subreach has healthier, denser plant life and a more typical stream morphology than the subreaches described above. The surrounding floodplain zone is wide and marshy.



4.4 Mine Waste and Soil Sampling

The field investigation involved the collection of nine mine waste samples and nine soil samples, as well as the field analysis of 45 mine waste samples and 46 soil samples by XRF following EPA Method 6200. Sample locations are displayed and numbered on the map in Figure 3. The field distinction between "mine wastes" and "soils" was based upon a cursory field assessment of textural and color properties. The mine waste sampling locations were located on and around mine waste tailings piles, while the soil samples were collected from soils underlying or adjacent to mine waste materials. These areas included surface soils in places exposed to runoff/erosion from waste areas and/or soils beneath waste piles. The sampling sites, located at cross-sections along the contaminated stream, were designed to determine the types and amounts of contamination. For the most part, sampling locations were evenly distributed throughout the site. The exception was that representative mine waste piles were sampled. Composite samples were extracted to a maximum depth of one meter (39.4 inches). The samples were composited by mixing them in a clean container (a new heavy gauge plastic "trash compactor" bag for each sample, lining a five-gallon plastic bucket).



Field analysis for total metals concentration using an XRF

All samples were analyzed for total metals concentration using a Spectrace 9000 portable XRF, which allows for an on-site rapid assessment of the elemental spectrum. The XRF's detection limits, precision, and accuracy are provided in Appendix F. Additionally, a subset of 18 confirmation samples, co-located with the XRF sampling sites, was analyzed for total metals, (Laboratory analyses for chemicals of potential concern (COPC) concentrations occurred via atomic emission spectrometry (EPA Methods 200.2 series))

water extractable metals, pH, electrical conductivity and Acid-Base Accounting (ABA). Total metal concentration results from the 18 co-located sites were used for confirmatory analysis and to calibrate the XRF against the more accurate laboratory-analyzed samples. Following collection, laboratory samples, each weighing approximately one kilogram, were stored in individually sealed containers and shipped on ice to SVL Analytic in Kellogg, Idaho for analysis. Standard Chain of Custody (COC) procedures were followed to track and identify the individual samples. COC procedures are described in SOP A13 – Sample Handling, Documentation, and Tracking Procedures.

4.5 Surface Water Sampling

A total of seven representative sites, located along cross-sections within each subreach, were sampled within the area of potential mine waste impact. Cross-section locations are displayed and numbered on the map in Figure 2. Surface water sampling was performed to monitor stream water volumes, flows, and analyte concentrations. Surface water quality analyses included total

metals concentrations, hardness, temperature, and pH. Laboratory analyses for COPC concentrations occurred via atomic emission spectrometry (EPA Methods 200.7 series).



Setting-up a cross section on Jill Creek

At each cross-section, the stream channel was subdivided into one to 10 segments of equal length depending on the width of the channel. The depth of the stream was measured in the middle of each segment. Velocity measurements were obtained from each stream segment using an FP201 Global Flow Probe hand-held flow meter with a five- to 15-foot expandable handle. Velocity readings were measured in feet per second with accuracies of plus-or-minus 0.1 feet per second for instantaneous velocity and plusor-minus 0.01 feet per second for average and maximum velocity.

Velocity readings were determined by extending the flow meter handle to the appropriate length and placing the probe in the center of the channel of each stream segment within the respective cross-sections. The flow probe was moved slowly back and forth from the top of the water surface to the bottom of the channel for a minimum of one-minute to obtain a vertical flow profile. The average flow velocity for the stream cross-section, along with the date and time was recorded in the field logbook. The stream discharge was calculated by first determining the cross-sectional area of each stream channel segment, then multiplying the average velocity by the cross-sectional area, and finally averaging together the discharge of each segment to obtain a total stream discharge. Where flows are below the instrument's Limit of Detection (LOD) of 0.3 feet per second, flows are estimated as half the difference between zero and the LOD (e.g., 0.15 feet per second).

Stream temperature and pH measurements were collected using a waterproof Hanna instruments HI-9023 microcomputer pH and temperature meter. The pH meter is accuracy to 0.01 units and its collection capabilities range from 0.00 to 14.00 pH. The temperature meter can record temperatures ranging from 32 to 212 degrees Fahrenheit. It is accurate to 0.7 degrees Fahrenheit. The instrument was calibrated before each set of samples was obtained. To use the instrument, the probe was placed in the stream at the cross-section. Keeping the probe submerged, it was moved it slowly back and forth across the stream until the pH and temperature readings stabilized (approximately 2 minutes). The results were recorded into a permanent notebook.

Surface water samples were collected at each of the seven cross-sections with a depth-integrated wading device and were placed in sample containers supplied by SVL. To operate the wading device, it was moved up and down through the water column at set locations across the stream for a predetermined timeframe that depended on the stream size. The device was calibrated to collect equal amounts of water through the water column and across the stream. All excess water was disposed of by pouring gently out on the stream bank adjacent to the sampling location.

Once collected, the water samples were immediately preserved with nitric acid. The filled sample bottles and jars were labeled as specified in the *The Standard Operating Procedures*



(*SOPs*), (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Omaha District, 2002). The labeled bottles were placed in ice chests and cooled to approximately 4^o C with the appropriate chain-of-custody paperwork. The cooler was shipped by overnight mail to SVL Analytic in Kellogg, Idaho.

4.6 Sediment Samples

Seven streambed sediment samples were collected from the streambed directly under the surface water sampling location. Samples, gathered at depths ranging from one-half inch to four inches, were collected in the interstices of cobbles with a stainless steel spoon. The samples were labeled and stored in one-liter sample containers provided by SVL Analytical with the appropriate chain-of-custody paperwork. The samples were shipped by overnight mail to SVL Analytic in Kellogg, Idaho. Laboratory analyses followed EPA Method 200.7.

4.7 Riparian Health Assessment

Riparian assessments were conducted with a focus on vegetative health. The rationale for looking at vegetation data is that the condition of plants in the riparian zone is a major component in determining the vigor of riparian ecosystems (Hansen, et al., 1995).

Riparian health assessments were conducted along four stream reaches in the injured area and one Reference Reach upstream of the injured area. Each Riparian Reach was representative of unique stream and vegetation characteristics found on Jack and Jill Creeks. The riparian vegetation is uniform over the entire length of the injured area on Jill Creek, thus, it was classified in the field as a single Riparian Reach. The hydrologic characteristics differ from the top to the bottom of the creek. Ultimately, Jill Creek was merged into one Riparian Reach, corresponding with Subreaches A through D, which are described in *Section 4.3 Boundary Delineation* of this report. Riparian Reach E, located at the confluence of Jack and Jill Creeks, corresponds with Subreach E. Riparian Reaches F and G correspond with Subreaches F and G, respectively.

Detailed vegetation data, physical site data, some wildlife data, trend commentary, and photograph were collected. The vegetation data gathered included species identification and canopy cover estimations, as well as age class breakdowns for each tree and shrub species. Physical site data included channel morphology and condition, substrate composition, disturbance degree and kind, amount and cause of bare ground, and commentary. Wildlife data included details of beaver activity and observations of fishery, amphibian, and reptile data.

The riparian inventory data collected for this project was originally gathered on the entire riparian zone, which extends laterally out to the valley toe slope foot. This area includes both the near-channel zone of mine tailing deposits, and a wide outer band on both sides unimpacted by these tailings contaminants. Subsequently, the width dimension was adjusted to reflect only the narrower floodplain impacted by deposition of mine tailings. The species data was also adjusted by eliminating those species found only under the forest canopy at the outer edge of the riparian zone. These steps were undertaken to reflect conditions within the narrower impacted zone, as opposed to the entire riparian habitat area.

The assessment used was developed by Dr. Paul Hansen and his team at the Riparian and Wetland Research Program, University of Montana at Missoula. Refer to Bitterroot Restoration's riparian and wetland website (http://bitterrootrestoration.com/index.html) for more information on the methodology used to conduct the riparian health assessments.

4.8 Rosgen Stream Classification—Level II

Reaches of stream channel may be classified according to morphological characteristics that reflect the stream's capacity to store/transport sediment. The relevant parameters, in order of importance, are channel slope, channel pattern, channel material size, the ratio of channel width to depth, the entrenchment ratio, and channel sinuosity (Rosgen 1996).

The bankfull channel width, flood prone width, the maximum and mean stream depths at bankfull stage, and the average channel material size were measured at a representative cross section within each subreach. These measurements were used to determine the width-to-depth ratio (bankfull width divided by bankfull mean depth), the width of the flood prone area (the flood prone area is defined as the area of floodplain inundated by a flood that reaches a depth twice the maximum bankfull stage depth), and the entrenchment ratio (entrenchment is the ratio of width of the channel at bankfull stage and that of the flood prone area). The channel material size was visually estimated within each subreach.

The channel slope and channel pattern data were derived in Geographic Information System (GIS) from the one-foot contour survey map. For each subreach of stream classified, average channel slope was determined as the percent drop (rise/run). The change in elevation and the segment length were used for this calculation. Channel pattern refers to sinuosity and number of threads (split around islands or a single stream body). Sinuosity was calculated as the ratio of channel length to valley length for the reach. These parameters are described by Rosgen (1996) and the calculations are in Appendix C.

4.9 Volume of Contaminated Material

The thickness and the extent of mine wastes were determined through soil core sampling. These calculations were used to estimate the volume of impacted floodplain materials. The soil depth/ characteristics were examined at 100 sampling locations that were taken along 24 transects that intersected with mine waste and/or soil testing sites. Each transect ran from the stream edge to the site boundary. Sample locations are portrayed on Figure 4. To obtain representative depths of mine tailings across the cross section, sample locations were spaced apart 15 to 20 feet. Soil core samples were obtained with a soil auger. Soil was examined to a maximum depth of 3 feet. In many cases, water or river cobbles above 3 feet were encountered. Soil cores were divided into sections determined by variations in color and composition. The depth of each section to either cobbles or the water table was then measured and recorded. Data supporting the mine waste volume estimates are contained in Appendix D.

To obtain volume measurements, the soil depth for each sample was entered into GIS and interpolated across the injured area. When analyzing the field data, it was found that the



sampling density was insufficient for GIS interpolation, so the density of points was increased using ArcView 3.2, a GIS software, following the assumptions listed below:

- All locations in the streambed equal zero. In other words, no materials would be excavated from the actual streambed and no material would be removed below groundwater level.
- For a given contour line, the removal depths are equal at the site boundary on stream right and stream left.
- No material would be excavated from sampling locations with COPC levels below the recreation levels described in Table 6-1.

4.10 Topographic/Site Features Survey

A Topographic/Site Features Survey of the mine-waste impacted area was completed by Territorial Engineering and Surveying, Inc. and is found in Appendix B. The site was mapped on a local coordinate system using traditional surveying methods. Key points were mapped in latitude/longitude using a survey grade (sub-centimeter accurate) Global Positioning System (GPS) unit. The survey met minimum conventional theodolite traverse control standards (third order geodetic control and 1:5000 accuracy). In addition to constructing a survey with one-foot contours of the injured area, the surveying team mapped features of interest (old beaver dams, for example), stream cross-sections, and mine waste and soil sampling locations.

4.11 Quality Assurance and Control

Quality Control (QC) procedures used for mine wastes, soil, and water testing were consistent with methods described by the EPA and the *The Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs)* (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Omaha District, 2002). All samples collected in the field were prepared with appropriate COC documentation, including sample logs, sample identification (ID) numbers, and appropriate seals.

All samples were individually sealed in plastic bags prior to shipment. Mine waste and soil sample containers were wrapped in bubble wrap or other protective wrapping and stored in plastic boxes. Upon collection, nitric acid (reagent grade) was added to all water samples. The samples were immediately placed in ice chests and cooled to 4° C or less. Boxes and ice chests were taped shut and sealed with custody seals. COC forms were signed as relinquished and sealed in bags and taped inside each box. COC forms were reviewed and signed by the laboratory upon receipt. The laboratory sent the final analytical results to BRI.

Field notes were kept in bound, waterproof notebooks. Notes were written in waterproof ink or pencil. Sample numbers were transferred to COC forms.

QC of the XRF analysis followed EPA Standard Operating Procedure No. 1713 (1995). The XRF calibration procedures included verification of potential multiple soil matrix types. Matrix differences, such as large variations in calcium or iron content, may affect XRF measurements.

5.0 LABORATORY ANALYSIS

5.1 Mine Waste and Soil Analysis

Eighteen confirmation samples, co-located with the XRF sampling sites, were analyzed for total metals. Data from the 18 co-located sites were used to calibrate the XRF against the more accurate laboratory-analyzed samples. Samples were analyzed in a laboratory via atomic emission spectrometry (see Table 5.1 below). In addition, the confirmation samples were assessed for acid generating potential (Acid-Base accounting).

TABLE 5.1 TOTAL METALS ANALYSIS

Target Constituent	Analytical Method
Arsenic	EPA M200.2 ICP-Total metals
Cadmium	EPA M200.2 ICP- Total metals
Copper	EPA M200.2 ICP- Total metals
Lead	EPA M200.2 ICP- Total metals
Zinc	EPA M200.2 ICP- Total metals

In addition, six mine waste samples (surface rock/soil samples) were analyzed for water extractable metals (Table 5.2).

TABLE 5.2 WATER EXTRACTABLE METALS ANALYSIS

Target Constituent	Analytical Method
Arsenic	EPA M200.7 ICP-water-extractable
Cadmium	EPA M200.7 ICP- water-extractable
Copper	EPA M200.7 ICP- water-extractable
Lead	EPA M200.2 ICP- water-extractable
Zinc	EPA M200.7 ICP- water-extractable

5.2 Surface Water and Sediment Analysis

Table 5.3 presents target metals for the surface water and streambed sediment samples.

|--|

Target Constituent	Analytical Method
Arsenic	EPA M200.2 ICP-Total metals
Cadmium	EPA M200.2 ICP- Total metals
Copper	EPA M200.2 ICP- Total metals
Lead	EPA M200.2 ICP- Total metals
Zinc	EPA M200.2 ICP- Total metals
рН	EPA M150.1
Conductivity	EPA M120.1

Sample analysis followed the quality control criteria set by the Environmental Chemistry Branch Laboratory and/or as per the *Final Work Plan, Restoration of Abandoned Mine Sites*, June 2002. Laboratory QC data are included with the raw analytic results in Appendix E.

6.0 DATA SCREENING CRITERIA

6.1 Mine Waste and Soil Standards

This report concentrates on five COPCs for recreational users: Arsenic, Cadmium, Copper, Lead, and Zinc. These COPCs are the standard suite of contaminants investigated on minelands in western Montana and northern Idaho. The remoteness of the site suggests that recreationists will be the population most likely to visit. The EPA's exposure limits for recreational users, presented in Table 6.1, govern contact to the COPCs in soil material. The primary exposure pathways are soil contact, inhalation and water ingestion. The standards assume that potential carcinogenic and non-carcinogenic health risks vary between recreational populations. The cleanup guidelines used in this report are based on a Hazard Index of 0.5 or an increased cancer risk of 5 x 10^{-4} . The latter is the carcinogenic risk for the gold panner/rock hound recreational population (Tetra Tech, 1996).

TABLE 6.1 EPA CLEANUP GUIDELINES FOR FIVE CHEMICALS OF POTENTIAL CONCERN FOR RECREATIONAL VISITORS

COPC	Arsenic	Cadmium	Copper	Lead	Zinc
Soil Ingestion/					
Inhalation Cleanup	700	19,500	27,100	1,100	220,000
Guideline (mg/kg)*					

* Concentrations for Arsenic and Cadmium are based on an increased cancer risk of 5 x 10⁻⁴, while Copper, Lead, and Zinc are based on a Hazard Index of 0.5.

6.2 Surface and Groundwater Standards

Table 6.2 presents water quality guidelines for the COPCs for this study. These standards govern exposure to COPCs by water ingestion.

COPC	Montana DEQ Water Quality Standards Aquatic Life		Montana DEQ Water Quality Standards Human Health		Required Reporting Value	EPA National Primary Drinking Water
	Acute	Chronic	Surface Water	Groundwater		Standards
Arsenic	340	150	18	20	3	10 (as of 1/23/06)
Cadmium	1.05*	0.16*	5	5	0.1	5
Copper	7.3	5.2	1,300	1,300	1	1,300
Lead	82**	3.2**	15	15	3	15
Zinc	67*	67*	2,000	2,000	10	n/a

TABLE 6.2 WATER QUALITY GUIDELINES

All values stated as micrograms/liter (µg/L)

* @ 50 mg/L hardness

** @ 100 mg/L hardness

7.0 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

7.1 Mine Waste and Soil Results and Discussion

This investigation resulted in the collection of nine soil and nine mine waste samples, which were analyzed for total metals via ICP, water extractable metals, pH, conductivity and Acid-Base Accounting. In addition, 91 soil and mine waste samples were analyzed for total metals concentrations via XRF. Data for all lab analyses are in Appendix E, and XRF field analyses data are included in Appendix F.

An initial review of the results of the analysis, presented in Table 7.1, suggested little to no difference between the soil and mine waste samples. A Student's t-Test was utilized to examine whether this observation was statistically relevant (see Appendix G). As also shown in Table 7.1, there was no significant difference in analytic values between the soil and mine waste samples at alpha = 0.05. This is likely due to the mixing of materials as a result of the disturbance ecology of the creek systems as well as to leaching of COPCs from mine wastes into pre-disturbance substrates. For the purpose of the remainder of the analyses, analytic results from the soil and mine waste samples were condensed into a single data set.

Analyte	Soil*	Mine Waste*	t-Value	p-Value**
Arsenic (total mg/kg by ICP)	1,609 (2,015)	2,941 (2,247)	-1.32	0.20
Cadmium (total mg/kg by ICP)	5 (8)	1(1)	1.53	0.15
Copper (total mg/kg by ICP)	464 (471)	178 (160)	1.73	0.10
Lead (total mg/kg by ICP)	887 (1,433)	1,526 (1,193)	-1.03	0.32
Zinc (total mg/kg by ICP)	429 (508)	157 (91)	1.59	0.13
Arsenic (total mg/kg by XRF)	1,978 (2,676)	2,866 (3,056)	-0.66	0.52
Cadmium (total mg/kg by XRF)	152 (122)	102 (37)	1.18	0.26
Copper (total mg/kg by XRF)	233 (177)	314 (268)	-0.76	0.46
Lead (total mg/kg by XRF)	867 (1,370)	1,101 (1,107)	-0.40	0.70
Zinc (total mg/kg by XRF)	316 (270)	194 (109)	1.26	0.23
Arsenic (mg/kg water extractable by ICP)	1 (2)	0 (0)	0.72	0.51
Cadmium (mg/kg water extractable by ICP)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1.08	0.34
Copper (mg/kg water extractable by ICP	1 (1)	0 (0)	1.00	0.38
Lead (mg/kg water extractable by ICP)	1 (1)	0 (0)	0.87	0.44
Zinc (mg/kg water extractable by ICP)	12(19)	0 (0)	1.04	0.36
pH (standard units)	4 (0)	4 (0)	2.04	0.06
Conductivity	381 (738)	115 (65)	1.08	0.30
Total Sulfur (total mg/kg)	0(1)	0 (0)	0.62	0.54
Pyritic Sulfur (total mg/kg)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0.85	0.41
Sulfate Sulfur (total mg/kg)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0.37	0.71
Non-extractable Sulfur (total mg/kg)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1.30	0.21
Acid generating potential	4 (9)	1 (1)	0.84	0.41
Acid neutralizing potential	5 (3)	4 (3)	0.82	0.43
Acid-Base potential	1 (10)	3 (4)	-0.37	0.71

TABLE 7.1 COMPARISON OF ANALYTIC RESULTS FOR SOIL VERSUS MINE WASTE SAMPLES

* Mean and standard deviation are reported as #(#)

** Significant difference at alpha = 0.05

7.1.1 Total Metals from Field XRF Results

Table 7.2 presents total metal concentrations statistics for the soil and mine waste samples collected from Jack and Jill Creeks as analyzed by field XRF. In general, the XRF trends for these elements tend to follow the results of the laboratory analyses, although cadmium concentrations via XRF are an order of magnitude higher than the laboratory results.

COPCs	Average Sample Concentration from Jack and Jill Creeks (mg/kg)*	Minimum Sample Concentration from Jack and Jill Creeks (mg/kg)	Maximum Sample Concentration from Jack and Jill Creeks (mg/kg)	Screening Criteria for Recreational Visitors (mg/kg)	Percent of 18 samples above COPC limits for Recreational Visitors
Arsenic	2,422 (2,823)	104	9240	700	56 percent
Cadmium	127 (91)	90	458	19,500	0 percent
Copper	274 (224)	36	680	27,100	0 percent
Lead	984 (1,214)	15	4191	1,100	28 percent
Zinc	255 (209)	35	882	220,000	0 percent

 TABLE 7.2 TOTAL METAL CONCENTRATIONS FROM FIELD XRF RESULTS

* Mean and standard deviation are reported as #(#)

** Shading indicates exceedance of screening criteria.

7.1.2 Total Metals from Laboratory Results

Table 7.3 presents mean total metal concentrations for the soil and mine waste samples collected from Jack and Jill Creeks. The results indicate that while arsenic and lead are significant metals of concern, arsenic is the major contributor in this system. In all cases where lead exceeds recreational exposure limits, arsenic is also exceeded, but arsenic levels may exceed exposure limits without a simultaneous exceedance in lead concentrations (Figures 4 and 5).

COPCs	Average Sample Concentration from Jack and Jill Creeks (mg/kg)	Minimum Sample Concentration from Jack and Jill Creeks (mg/kg)	Maximum Sample Concentration from Jack and Jill Creeks (mg/kg)	Screening Criteria for Recreational Visitors (mg/kg)	Percent of 18 samples above COPC limits for Recreational Visitors
Arsenic	2,275 (2,181)	82.2	6220	700	72 percent
Cadmium	3 (6)	0.2	24.7	19,500	0 percent
Copper	321 (372)	42.1	1280	27,100	0 percent
Lead	1,207 (1,321)	50.9	4620	1,100	39 percent
Zinc	293 (380)	43.4	1750	220,000	0 percent

TABLE 7.3 TOTAL METAL CONCENTRATIONS FROM LABORATORY RESULTS

* Shading indicates exceedance of screening criteria.

7.1.3 Statistical Comparison of XRF Results and Laboratory Results

A least squares regression analysis was utilized to determine whether the apparent trend is statistically significant. EPA Method 6200 stipulates that the correlation coefficient (R-squared) between ICP and XRF data needs to be greater than 0.7 for the XRF data to be considered

7/28/03





screening level data. The method also stipulates that if the data range spans greater than one magnitude, a log scale shall be used for analysis. As both data sets for all elements range across multiple magnitudes, a log-log correction was utilized. Least squares regression analysis, which was utilized to determine whether the apparent trend is statistically significant, is described in Appendix G. As shown in Table 7.4, a comparison of the two log-corrected data sets via least squares regression analysis indicates a poor relationship between results obtained by the two methods.

COPCa	\mathbf{P}^2 for regression line	n Value of regression line	D for regression
COFCS	K for regression line	p-value of regression line	K IOI Tegression
Arsenic	0.338	0.01*	0.58
Cadmium	0.116	0.17	0.34
Copper	0.200	0.06	0.45
Lead	0.374	0.007*	0.61
Zinc	0.631	<0.0001*	0.79

TABLE 7.4 LEAST SQUARES COMPARISON OF LOG-CORRECTED METALCONCENTRATIONS VIA ICP AND FIELD XRF

*Statistical significance at alpha = 0.05

While three of five regression analyses are statistically significant at alpha = 0.05, in no case is the correlation coefficient sufficiently strong to permit the analytic results via XRF to be used as screening level data. Nonetheless, the moderately strong correlations (0.25 < R < 0.8) for all elements, and particularly for zinc, lead and arsenic, indicate that the XRF data supports the more limited laboratory results data set and suggests that the Jack and Jill Creek floodplains contain significantly elevated levels of arsenic and lead.

7.1.4 Water-Extractable Metals Results for Soils and Mine Wastes

Table 7.5 presents water-extractable metal concentrations statistics for the soil and mine waste samples collected from Jack and Jill Creeks, as analyzed by EPA Method 200.7. Zinc has the highest concentration, which is to be expected given that it is among the most soluble of trace elements. All samples fell below Montana Department of Environmental Quality's water quality standards for human health.

TABLE 7.5 WATER-EXTRACTABLE METAL CONCENTRATIONS OF SOILS AND MINE WASTES VIA ICP

COPCs	Average Sample Concentration from Jack and Jill Creeks (mg/kg)*	Minimum Sample Concentration from Jack and Jill Creeks (mg/kg)	Maximum Sample Concentration from Jack and Jill Creeks (mg/kg)	Surface Water Threshold Concentration (mg/kg) for Human Health Concerns (MT DEQ)
Arsenic	0.7 (1.3)	0.005	3.4	18
Cadmium	0.1 (0.2)	0.001	0.4	5
Copper	0.4 (0.5)	0.035	1.3	1,300
Lead	0.3 (0.7)	0.003	1.6	15
Zinc	6.0 (13.2)	0.124	33.0	2,000

* Mean and standard deviation are reported as #(#)

7.1.5 pH and Conductivity Results for Soils and Mine Wastes

Table 7.6 presents pH and conductivity statistics for the soil and mine waste samples collected from Jack and Jill Creeks. All samples had highly acidic values. Five of the 18 samples had values less than 3.5 standard units, a level of extreme acidity where acid sulfates can be readily present (see 7.1.6 Acid-Base Accounting Results for Soils and Mine Wastes below). Twelve of the samples had pH values between 3.5 and 4.5, a level of high acidity at which exchangeable aluminum can be significantly phytotoxic.

Analyses	Average Sample Values from Jack and Jill Creeks*	Minimum Average Sample Values from Jack and Jill Creeks	Maximum Average Sample Values from Jack and Jill Creeks
pH (standard units)	3.82 (0.48)	2.98	4.74
Conductivity (µmho/cm)	248 (526)	54.2	2340

TABLE 7.6 pH AND CONDUCTIVITY VALUES OF SOILS AND MINE WASTES

* Mean and standard deviation are reported as #(#)

There are two major diagnostic thresholds that use soil electrical conductivity as a prime measure. Conductivity of greater than 2,000 μ mho/cm @ 25 C° is one of the indications of an Aridisol, while conductivity of greater than 4,000 μ mho/cm @ 25 C° defines a saline soil (Boul and others 1989). Only one sample from Jack and Jill Creek exceeds the 2,000 μ mho/cm threshold. Soil salinity is not a significant problem in these soils.

7.1.6 Acid-Base Accounting Results for Soils and Mine Wastes

Table 7.7 presents Acid-Base Accounting results for the soils and mine wastes from Jack and Jill Creeks. The most significant results are the Acid-Base Potential values. Three of 18 samples displayed negative Acid-Base Potential values, indicating that they are acid generating. While the floodplain materials are strongly acidic, the acid generating potential of these materials is being exhausted.

Analyses	Average Sample Values from Jack and Jill Creeks*	Average Sample Values from Jack and Jill Creeks	Maximum Average Sample Values from Jack and Jill Creeks
Total sulfur (ma/ka)	0.15 (0.29)	0.01	1.67
Pyritic sulfur (mg/kg)	0.08 (0.20)	0.01	0.86
Sulfate sulfur (mg/kg)	0.07 (0.18)	0.005	0.75
Non-extractable sulfur (mg/kg)	0.01 (0.01)	0.005	0.06
Acid generating potential (TCaCO ₃ /1000T)	2.4 (6.2)	0.15	26.9
Acid neutralizing potential (TCaCO ₃ /1000T)	4.3 (2.9)	1.08	9.29
Acid-Base potential (TCaCO ₃ /1000T)	2.0 (7.3)	-24.3	8.67

TABLE 7.7 ACID-BASE ACCOUNTING RESULTS FOR SOILS AND MINE WASTES

* Mean and standard deviation are reported as #(#)

7.2 Surface Water Quality Results and Discussion

Seven water quality samples were collected and analyzed for total metals, pH, temperature, and hardness. The results of these analyses are shown in Table 7.8 and Figure 6. A review of the results suggested that there was a significant difference between values for Jack Creek and Jill Creek.

Analyses	Average Sample Values from Jack and Jill Creeks*	Minimum Sample Values from Jack and Jill Creeks	Maximum Sample Values from Jack and Jill Creeks	Average Sample Values from Jack Creek*	Average Sample Values from Jill Creek*
Arsenic (dissolved metal mg/L)	30 (43)	5	126	8 (5)	47 (53)
Cadmium (dissolved metal mg/L)	29(18)	8	44	10(1)	43 (2)
Copper (dissolved metal mg/L)	480 (314)	121	798	149 (25)	729 (67)
Lead (dissolved metal mg/L)	10(13)	3	39	3 (0)	16(15)
Zinc (dissolved metal mg/L)	3,066 (1,880)	869	4680	1,060 (167)	4,570 (100)
pH (standard units)	6.5 (0.9)	5.61	7.48	7.4 (0.05)	5.81 (0.2)
Temperature (° F)	44.3 (4.5)	40.5	49.1	43.6 (4.8)	44.75 (4.9)
Hardness (mg/L)	79.9 (23.8)	51.3	99.7	54.6 (2.8)	98.90 (0.9)

TABLE 7.8 WATER SAMPLE RESULTS

* Mean and standard deviation are reported as #(#)

A Student's t-Test was utilized to examine whether the apparent differences were statistically relevant (See Appendix G). Also shown in Table 7.9, there was a significant difference in all analytic values between most sediment analytic results at alpha = 0.05 except for total arsenic and lead concentrations and water temperature.

Analyses	Average Sample Values from Jack Creek*	Average Sample Values from Jill Creek*	t-Value	p-Value
Arsenic (dissolved metal mg/L)	8 (5)	47 (53)	-1.2	0.3
Cadmium (dissolved metal mg/L)	10(1)	43 (2)	-28.5	<0.0001**
Copper (dissolved metal mg/L)	149 (25)	729 (67)	-13.9	<0.0001**
Lead (dissolved metal mg/L)	3 (0)	16(15)	-1.6	0.2
Zinc (dissolved metal mg/L)	1,060 (167)	4,570 (100)	-35.0	<0.0001**
pH (standard units)	7.4 (0.05)	5.8 (0.2)	16.3	<0.0001**
Temperature (° F)	43.6 (4.8)	44.8 (4.9)	-0.3	0.8
Hardness (mg/L)	54.6 (2.8)	98.9 (0.9)	-30.2	< 0.0001**

 TABLE 7.9 COMPARISON OF WATER SAMPLE RESULTS JACK CREEK VERSUS JILL CREEK

* Mean and standard deviation are reported as #(#)

**Statistically significant difference at alpha = 0.05

Jill Creek lies upstream of Jack Creek and therefore closer to the source of mine wastes and acid mine drainage from the Bullion Mine Adit and has a significantly lower pH and higher concentration of metals than Jack Creek. The probable cause for this trend is that the metals under consideration generally show greater solubility at lower pH levels. Arsenic, a metalloid,



has the reverse relationship, with its solubility increasing as pH increases. Increases of arsenic solubility are not as significant until pH values increase above the ranges measured in the two drainages. This last factor is a likely explanation for no significant change in dissolved arsenic concentration between Jack and Jill Creek.

While Jill Creek exceeds Jack Creek in percent of water samples above water quality standards for human health, all water samples exceeded cadmium standards (Table 7.10).

	Montana DEQ Water Quality Standards for	Percent of Samples Above MT DEQ Water Quality Standards for Human Health: Jack and Jill	Percent of Samples Above MT DEQ Water Quality Standards for Human Health:	Percent of Samples Above MT DEQ Water Quality Standards for Human Health:
Analyses	Human Health	Creeks	Jack Creek	Jill Creek
Arsenic (dissolved metal mg/L)	0.018	29	0	50
Cadmium (dissolved metal mg/L)	0.005	100	100	100
Copper (dissolved metal mg/L)	1.300	0	0	0
Lead (dissolved metal mg/L)	0.015	0	0	0
Zinc (dissolved metal mg/L)	2.000	57	0	100

 TABLE 7.10
 WATER QUALITY SAMPLE COMPLIANCE WITH HUMAN HEALTH STANDARDS

With the exception of arsenic, all of the COPC values from the Jack and Jill Creeks water samples exceeded the chronic values recommended in the Montana DEQ aquatic life water quality standards. Cadmium, copper, and zinc concentrations exceeded the aquatic life criterion acute values (Table 7.11).

TABLE 7.11	WATER OUALITY	SAMPLE COMPLIANCE WITH	AOUATIC LIFE STANDARDS
	with a second se		

Analyses	MT DEQ Water Quality Standards for Aquatic LifePercent of Samples Above MT DEQ Water for Aquatic Life: Jack CreekPercent of S Above MT DE Quality Standards for Aquatic Life: Jill Cre		Percent of Samples Above MT DEQ Water Quality Standards for Aquatic Life: Jack Creek		f Samples DEQ Water Standards atic Life: Creek	
	Acute	Chronic	Acute	Chronic	Acute	Chronic
Arsenic (dissolved						
metal mg/L)	0.340	0.150	0	0	0	0
Cadmium (dissolved						
metal mg/L)	0.00105*	0.00016*	100	100	100	100
Copper (dissolved						
metal mg/L)	0.0073	0.0052	100	100	100	100
Lead (dissolved metal						
mg/L)	0.082**	0.0032**	0	100	0	100
Zinc (dissolved metal						
mg/L)	0.067*	0.067*	100	100	100	100

* @ 50 mg/L hardness

** @ 100 mg/L hardness

7.3 Streambed Sediment Results and Discussion

Seven sediment samples were collected and analyzed for total metals, pH and conductivity. The results of these analyses, shown in Table 7.12, indicated that there was a significant difference in sediment samples between Jack and Jill Creeks.

	Average Sample Values from	Minimum Sample Values	Maximum Sample Values	Average Sample Values	Average Sample Values
Analyses	Jack and Jill Creeks*	from Jack and Jill Creeks	from Jack and Jill Creeks	from Jack Creek*	from Jill Creek*
Arsenic (total metal mg/kg)	1,804 (483)	1180	2480	1,367 (306)	2,133 (262)
Cadmium (total metal mg/kg)	27 (14)	13.6	51.6	40(10)	16(2)
Copper (total metal mg/kg)	1,051 (375)	653	1790	1,093 (610)	1,020 (171)
Lead (total metal mg/kg)	673 (160)	466	876	514 (57)	793 (68)
Zinc (total metal mg/kg)	2,021 (1,070)	1110	4060	3,000 (927)	1,288 (200)
pH (standard units)	6(1)	5.83	6.94	7 (0.1)	6 (0.1)
Conductivity (µmho/cm)	390 (55)	317	445	366 (63)	409 (48)

TABLE 7.12 SEDIMENT ANALYTICAL RESULTS

* Mean and standard deviation are reported as #(#)

A Student's t-Test was utilized to examine whether the apparent differences were statistically relevant. Also shown in Table 7.13, there was a significant difference in all analytic values between most sediment analytic results at alpha = 0.05, except for total copper concentration and conductivity.

Analyses	Average sample value from Jack Creek*	Average sample value from Jill Creek*	t-Value	n-Value
Arsonic (total motal mg/kg)	1 367 (306)	2 133 (262)	36	0.02*
Aisenic (total metal mg/Kg)	1,307 (300)	2,133 (202)	-3.0	0.02
Cadmium (total metal mg/kg)	40(10)	16(2)	4.8	0.01*
Copper (total metal mg/kg)	1,093 (610)	1,020 (171)	0.2	0.82
Lead (total metal mg/kg)	514 (57)	793 (68)	-5.8	0.002*
Zinc (total me tal mg/kg)	3,000 (927)	1,288 (200)	3.7	0.01*
pH (standard units)	7 (0.1)	6 (0.1)	14.5	< 0.0001*
Conductivity (µmho/cm)	366 (63)	409 (48)	-1.0	0.35

TABLE 7.13 COMPARISON OF ANALYTICAL RESULTS FOR JACK CREEK AND JILL CREEK

* Mean and standard deviation are reported as #(#)

*Statistically significant difference at alpha = 0.05

These trends in sediment do not parallel those from the surface water results. While Jill Creek exhibits more acidic sediments and higher lead concentrations than Jack Creek, Jill Creek has higher arsenic concentrations but lower cadmium and zinc concentrations than Jack Creek. As pH increases downstream, metals such as cadmium and zinc may become less mobile and precipitate, while arsenic may become more mobile and therefore may be reduced in relative concentration along Jack Creek.

Exhibited in Table 7.14, all sediment samples from both Jack and Jill Creeks exceed Montana's 700 ppm soil arsenic concentration limits for recreational visitors. The remaining COPCs

examined for this investigation were in compliance with EPA cleanup guidelines for recreationalists.

Analyses	Soil Ingestion/ Inhalation Cleanup Guidelines (mg/kg)	Percent of Samples Above EPA Soil Ingestion/Inhalation Guidelines: Jack and Jill Creeks	Percent of Samples Above EPA Soil Ingestion/Inhalation Guidelines: Jack Creek	Percent of Samples Above EPA Soil Ingestion/Inhalation Guidelines: Jill Creek
Arsenic	700	100	100	100
Cadmium	19,500	0	0	0
Copper	27,100	0	0	0
Lead	1,100	0	0	0
Zinc	220,000	0	0	0

TABLE 7.14 COMPLIANCE WITH EPA CLEANUP GUIDELINES FOR RECREATIONALISTS

7.4 Riparian Health Assessment

Table 7.15 illustrates the functional scores and habitat/community types found on the project site. Functional scores, ranging from zero to 100 percent, were derived by rating riparian vegetation and soil/hydrology conditions. A stream that scores between 100 and 80 percent is considered in proper functioning condition (healthy). Scores between 79 and 60 percent indicate that the stream is functional, but at-risk of degradation (healthy, but with problems). Nonfunctioning (unhealthy) streams score below 60 percent. The vegetation and soil/hydrology factors assessed included diversity, cover, and regeneration of vegetation, as well as the amount of bare ground present, and the condition of the stream banks. A healthy stream system supports dense vegetation that is regenerating and has little to no exposed ground. The stream banks do not experience much erosion due to armoring from large rocks and binding root mass. This assessment/scoring system, developed by Dr. Paul Hansen, is thoroughly described on BRI's riparian and wetland website (http://bitterrootrestoration.com/index.html).

The vegetation within the project site scored between 63 and 70 percent, which is considered functional, but at-risk of further degradation. The soils and hydrology, with scores between 73 and 87 percent, is also functional, but at-risk of further degradation. In contrast, the reference reach, located approximately one-half mile above the Jack and Jill Creek confluence, scored 93 percent for vegetation health and 90 percent for soil/hydrology health. The Reference Reach is therefore considered as functional and healthy.

The most common vegetation community type identified across the Reference Reach, the four Riparian Reaches on Jill Creek, and one Riparian Reach on Jack Creek consists of Engelmann Spruce (*Picea engelmannii*) (overstory) and Bluejoint Reedgrass (*Calamagrostis canadensis*) (understory). Significant portions of Riparian Reaches A through D and Riparian Reach E are unvegetated. These bare areas are categorized as an "Unclassified" habitat/community type. Riparian Reaches F and G, located on slower moving, meandering stream sections of Jack Creek, are dominated by the Subalpine Fir (*Abies lasiocarpa*) (overstory) and Bluejoint Reedgrass (*Calamagrostis canadensis*) (understory) habitat type. Both Riparian Reaches host a second habitat type – Drummond Willow (*Salix drummondiana*) (overstory), and Beaked Sedge (*Carex*)

rostrata) (understory) for Riparian Reach 5 and Planeleaf Willow (*Salix planifolia*) (overstory), Water Sedge (*Carex aquatilis*) (understory) for Riparian Reach G. The riparian health assessments for the Bullion project are provided in Appendix C.

Location	Vegetation	Soil/	Overall	Habitat/	Habitat/			
Location	vegetation	Uvdrology	Ucolth	Community	Community			
		nyurology	meann		Type?			
D . f D 1	0.2	00	01	Type I	Type2			
Reference Reach	93	90	91	Engelmann	27/4			
				Spruce/Bluejoint	N/A			
	Reedgrass							
Jill Creek								
Riparian Reach A	70	73	72	Engelmann	Unclassified			
				Spruce/Bluejoint				
				Reedgrass				
Riparian Reach B	70	73	72	Engelmann	Unclassified			
-				Spruce/Bluejoint				
				Reedgrass				
Riparian Reach C	70	73	72	Engelmann	Unclassified			
1				Spruce/Blueioint				
				Reedgrass				
Riparian Reach D	70	73	72	Engelmann	Unclassified			
I			-	Spruce/Blueioint				
				Reedgrass				
Jack Creek								
Riparian Reach E	63	80	72	Engelmann				
1				Spruce/Bluejoint	N/A			
				Reedgrass				
Riparian Reach F	70	60	65	Subalpine	Drummond's			
1				Fir/Bluejoint	Willow/Beaked			
				Reedgrass	Sedge			
Riparian Reach G	70	87	79	Subalpine	Planeleaf			
·				Fir/Bluejoint	Willow/Water Sedge			
				Reedgrass				

TABLE 7.15 RIPARIAN HEALTH ASSESSMENT RESULTS, FUNCTIONALSCORES, & HABITAT TYPES

7.5 Hydrologic and Geomorphic Characteristics (Rosgen Stream Classification—Level II)

From a topographic and geomorphic perspective, Jill and Jack Creeks are very different. Jill Creek, a tributary of Jack Creek flows down a steep mountainside. Jack Creek flows through a valley with moderate to gentle slopes and a fairly wide floodplain. These differences are reflected in the hydrologic measurements described below. Riparian Reaches A through C on Jill Creek exhibit very low discharges. The rate increases significantly on Riparian Reach D, probably due to a series of springs toward the bottom of this section. Discharge is at its highest, 1.86 cubic feet per second (cfs), at the confluence of Jack and Jill Creeks (Riparian Reach E). It steadily declines thereafter. Water diffusion into the broad hydrology of the beaver dam complex may account for the decline.

The stream gradient decreases as one moves downstream, from an average of 8.5 percent on Jill Creek to 2.3 percent on Jack Creek. Sinuosity scores also reflect the topographic differences

between Jack and Jill. The average sinuosity of Jill is 1.07; it increases to 1.23 on Jack Creek where the stream has room to meander. The flood-prone width widens from an average of 46 feet on Jill to 69 feet on Jack Creek.

The Rosgen stream typing method was used to characterize stream Riparian Reach morphology on Jack and Jill Creeks.

- **Rosgen Stream Types A4/A4+**: Riparian Reaches A through D on Jill Creek were rated as A4 or A4a+. Briefly described, an A4 and A4a+ streams are cascading step/pool sequences that are steep, confined, and entrenched. These high-energy systems with low sinuosity are capable of heavy debris transport. The substrate materials are mainly composed of gravel.
- **Rosgen Stream Type B:** Riparian Reach E at the top of Jack Creek, is a B3 Rosgen stream type. It has a moderate gradient with moderate entrenchment, and moderate to high sinuosity. It is dominated by riffles with infrequently spaced pools. The substrate material is principally cobbles. Riparian Reach F, located directly below Riparian Reach E, is a B4 Rosgen stream type. It has a moderate gradient with moderate entrenchment, and moderate to high sinuosity. It is dominated by riffles with infrequently spaced pools. The substrate material is principally cobbles. Riparian Reach F, located directly below Riparian Reach E, is a B4 Rosgen stream type. It has a moderate gradient with moderate entrenchment, and moderate to high sinuosity. It is dominated by riffles with infrequently spaced pools. The substrate material is principally gravel.
- *Rosgen Stream Type C:* Riparian Reach G at the bottom of the injured area on Jack Creek is classified as a C3 Rosgen stream type. C3 stream reaches tend to reside in broad valley with floodplains and alluvial soils. These moderately sloped, meandering reaches have moderate to high sinuosity, and are associated with riffle/pool bed morphology. Cobbles are the main substrate material.

Analytical data are presented in Table 7.16 below.

Location	Discharge (ft ³ /sec)	Flood prone Width (ft.)	Slope (%)	Sinuosity	Rosgen Stream Type	Channel Materials
Jill Creek averages	0.41	46	8.5	1.07	N/A	N/A
Riparian Reach A	0.12	17.6	8	1.12	A4	Gravel
Riparian Reach B	0.19	48.50	12	1.09	A4a+	Gravel
Riparian Reach C	0.03	81.2	8	1.04	A4	Gravel
Riparian Reach D	1.32	36.3	6	1.05	A4	Gravel
Jack Creek averages	1.21	69	2.3	1.23	N/A	N/A
Riparian Reach E	1.86	42.7	3	1.03	B3	Cobbles
Riparian Reach F	1.19	100.0	2	1.21	B4	Gravel
Riparian Reach G	0.93	64.9	2	1.46	C3	Cobbles

TABLE 7.16 HYDROLOGIC AND GEOMORPHIC CHARACTERISTICS

7.6 Volume Estimate of Contaminated Materials

Based upon methods previously discussed, the following field estimate of contaminated materials recommended for removal was developed for the Bullion site. These figures were not calculated using formal engineering tools and are not intended to take the place of a thorough engineering estimate and cost analysis. They are presented to give stakeholders a general idea of the volume of contaminated materials present at the Bullion project site. As Table 7.17 portrays, the materials exceeding screening criteria are spread fairly evenly across the site. With the exception of subreaches A and D, approximately 50,000 cubic feet of mine waste and soils are recommended for removal in each subreach. The total amount of

contaminated materials is estimated at 284,157 cubic feet.

Volume	Subreach						
(ft. ³)	A	B	C	D	E	F	G
	7,610	48,914	53,109	15,876	50,428	56,896	51,324

TABLE 7.17 VOLUME ESTIMATE OF CONTAMINATED MATERIALS

8.0 CONCLUSIONS

The results from this site investigation indicate that the levels of contamination in and around Jack and Jill Creeks exceed established protective limits for recreational populations. Arsenic is the major COPC in the system. Seventy-two percent of soil and mine waste samples contained arsenic concentrations above screening criteria for recreational visitors, and the average arsenic concentration in these samples was over 3 times higher than the limits. In addition, all streambed sediments collected exceeded Montana's soil arsenic exposure limit of 700 ppm. Lead concentrations for 39 percent of soil and mine waste samples exceeded the screening criteria for recreational visitors.

The surface water in Jack and Jill Creeks also shows elevated levels of metals. This is the likely cause of the complete absence of observed aquatic life in the injured area on Jack and Jill Creeks. Jill Creek is more heavily impacted than Jack Creek. Water samples from Jill Creek display concentrations of arsenic, cadmium, zinc, and lead above the Montana water quality standards for human health. Additionally, the surface water was acidic on Jill Creek, reflecting both its closer proximity to the acid mine drainage of the Bullion Mine site, as well as the slight dilution effect occurring below the confluence with Jack Creek.

The riparian health assessments also indicate that the ecological integrity of the system is compromised. Many parts of the flood-prone zone are devoid of vegetation, likely due to the high concentrations of metals in the floodplain soils. In addition, the channels of both Jill and Jack Creeks are moderately to significantly entrenched, reflecting probable historic changes in the hydrology of the system.

Based upon its site investigation, BRI therefore concludes that Jack and Jill Creek are significantly impacted, with levels of COPCs in the floodplain materials, streambed sediments and water exceeding the limits for recreational exposure and human health. The removal of
approximately 284,157 cubic feet of contaminated tailings materials, the reconstruction of the impacted stream channel and floodplain areas, and the restoration of the impacted riparian zone are recommended.

9.0 REFERENCES

Boul, S.W., F.D. Hole, R.J. McCracken, 1989. *Soil Genesis and Classification*. Iowa State University Press, Ames, Iowa.

Bitterroot Restoration, Inc., 2002. Site Specific Addendum to RAMS General Work Plan and Safety and Health Plan for Bullion Mine.

Bitterroot Restoration, Inc., 2002. Restoration of Abandoned Mines Project - Site Safety and Health Plan for Bullion Mine, Montana.

Hansen, Paul, Robert D. Pfister, Keith Boggs, Bradley J. Cook, John Joy, and Dan K. Hinckley, 1995. *Classification and Management of Montana's Riparian and Wetland Sites*.

Human and Ecological Risk Division, Dept. of Toxic Substances Control, California EPA, 1997. Selecting Inorganic Constituents As Chemicals Of Potential Concern At Risk Assessments At Hazardous Waste Sites And Permitted Facilities – Final Policy.

Rosgen, Dave, 1996. Applied River Morphology. Lakewood, CO.

Tetra Tech, 1996. *Risk-Based Cleanup Guidelines for Abandoned Mine Sites – Final Report.* Lafayette, CA.

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Omaha District, 2002. *Restoration of Abandoned Mine Sites Final Workplan*.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Method 6200, Revision 0, 1998. *Field Portable X-Ray Fluorescence Spectrometry for the Determination of Elemental Concentrations in Soil and Sediment*.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Standard Operating Procedure No. 1713, Revision 0, 1995. *Spectrace 9000 Field Portable X-Ray Fluorescence Operating Procedures.*

Western Regional Climate Center – <u>http://www.wrcc.dri.edu/cgi-bin/cliMAIN.pl?mtboul)</u>.

APPENDICES

For

ABANDONED MINE SITE INVESTIGATION OF THE BULLION MINE SITE ALONG JACK AND JILL CREEKS, MONTANA

Prepared for:

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Sacramento District and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Omaha District

Prepared By:

Bitterroot Restoration, Inc. 445 Quast Lane Corvallis, MONTANA 59828



July 7, 2003

Appendix A. Bullion Investigative Field Notes Appendix B. Topographic/Site Features Survey of the Impacted Area at Bullion Mine



Appendix C. Riparian Assessment Data and Rosgen Stream Classification Calculations

SUMMARY OF CROSS SECTION DATA BULLION MINE SITE

Cross- Section	Channel Area (ft2)	Discharge (cfs)	Floodplain width (ft)	pН	Temperature	Gradient	Sinuosity
CS A (1)	2.45	0.12	17.58	5.61	49	8%	1.12
CS B (2)	3.74	0.19	48.50	5.75	49	12%	1.09
CS C (3)	0.67	0.03	81.17	5.94	40.46	8%	1.04
CS D (4)	1.52	1.32	36.33	5.95	40.46	6%	1.05
CS E (7)	0.71	1.86	42.75	7.48	40.46	3%	1.03
CS F (5)	3.85	1.19	66.08	7.4	49.1	2%	1.21
CS G (6)	1.12	0.93	64.92	7.4	41.18	2%	1.46

	Cross Section	Cross Section	Cross Section	Cross Section	Cross Section	Cross Section	Cross Section
Variable	A	В	С	D	E	F	G
bankfull width (ft)	8.66	9.78	12.00	9.50	12.50	22.25	11.42
bankfull mean depth (ft)	0.77	1.12	0.49	0.61	0.36	0.79	0.81
bankfull area (ft2)	7.07	11.02	5.78	6.35	4.93	18.65	10.23
width/depth ratio	11.19	8.70	24.71	15.56	35.21	28.33	14.06
bankfull max. depth (ft)	1.84	1.84	0.95	1.30	0.67	1.45	1.55
flood-prone width (ft)	17.58	48.50	81.17	36.33	42.75	100.00	64.92
entrenchment ratio	2.03	4.96	6.76	3.82	3.42	4.49	5.68
	0.6 - 2.5 in.	0.6 - 2.5 in.	0.6 - 2.5 in.	0.6 - 2.5 in.	2.5 - 5 (small	0.6 - 2.5 in.	2.5 - 5 (small
channel materials (D50)	(coarse gravel)	(coarse gravel)	(coarse gravel)	(coarse gravel)	cobbles)	(coarse gravel)	cobbles)
water surface slope							
(rise/run)	8%	12%	8%	6%	3%	2%	2%
channel sinuosity	1.12	1.09	1.04	1.05	1.03	1.21	1.46

Appendix D. Volume of Contaminated Material Calculations

7/28/03





DEPTH (FT)	AREA (SQ_FT)	VOLUME(CU FT)
0.00	37019.6910	0.0
0.15	51216.2060	7682.4
0.30	97441.8210	29232.5
0.50	68698.3080	34349.2
0.70	31164.9810	21815.5
0.90	20896.3030	18806.7
1.15	33278.9860	38270.8
1.45	28702.6970	41618.9
1.75	26141.4260	45747.5
2.05	14397.2550	29514.4
2.35	5898.9360	13862.5
2.65	1907.7710	5055.6
2.90	433.3310	1256.7
TOTAL		287212.7

ESTIMATED VOLUME OF CONTAMINATED MATERIALS BULLION MINE SITE

Note: Calculations are based on the estimated amounts of contaminated material that are recommended for removal at given depths.

Appendix E. SVL Laboratory Raw Analytic Results

				Soil An	Append alysis for	lix E. S f Acid-E	SVL Lal or the I Base Ac	borator Bullion ccounti	ry R Mir ing a	aw Analyti ne Site and Soil/M	c Res ine V	sults Vaste F	Results	i			
Sample Number	Sample Date	Comments	Job_ld	Arsenic (mg/kg)	Cadmium (mg/kg)	Copper (mg/kg)	Lead (mg/kg)	Zinc (mg/kg)	Ph	Conduct- ivity (umhos/cm)	S- Total (%)	S- Pyritic (%)	S- Sulfate (%)	S-Non- Extractable (%)	AGP (TCaCO ₃ / 1000T)	ANP (TCaCO₃/ 1000T)	ABP (TCaCO₃/ 1000T)
BS-04-02-131	9/25/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	6210	24.7	1190	4620	1750	3.7	2340	1.67	0.86	0.75	0.06	26.9	2.62	-24.3
BS-04-02-151	9/25/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	3520	3.03	613	756	330	4.4	74.9	0.02	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	0.62	9.29	8.67
BS-04-00-171	9/25/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	1130	3.07	229	523	510	4.45	5 134	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	0.01	0.31	8.27	7.96
BS-04-00-191	9/26/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	128	0.65	83.4	76.8	150	3.92	71.8	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.01	<0.3	4.67	4.67
BS-04-00-211	9/26/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	841	2.34	144	902	271	3.93	56.4	0.04	0.04	<0.01	<0.01	1.25	1.08	<0.17
BS-04-00-231	9/26/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	207	2.65	1280	68.9	255	3.32	268	0.03	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.3	3.13	3.13
BS-04-01-251	9/26/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	1340	2.73	427	621	167	4.74	102	0.04	0.04	<0.01	<0.01	1.25	6.73	5.48
BS-04-00-271	9/25/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	979	1.92	120	348	272	3.85	5 169	0.01	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.31	6.21	5.9
BS-04-00-291	9/25/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	123	0.97	91	71.2	159	4.03	213	0.06	0.05	<0.01	0.01	1.56	1.33	<0.23
BT-04-01-130	9/25/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	2580	0.82	135	2170	129	3.23	3 195	0.08	0.02	0.05	<0.01	0.62	3.65	3.03
BT-04-01-150	9/25/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	2570	< 0.2	53.6	1500	43.4	2.98	3 247	0.07	0.03	0.04	<0.01	0.94	3.9	2.96
BT-04-00-170	9/25/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	894	0.52	521	385	167	3.56	5 123	0.05	0.04	<0.01	0.01	1.25	1.08	<0.17
BT-04-00-190	9/26/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	6220	1.42	164	2280	270	3.47	76.8	0.19	0.08	0.1	0.01	2.5	1.08	-1.42
BT-04-00-210	9/26/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	4560	2.23	361	1580	299	3.39	113	0.09	0.04	0.05	<0.01	1.25	3.65	2.4
BT-04-00-230	9/26/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	4330	0.55	5 104	1960	106	3.62	81.1	0.13	0.05	0.08	<0.01	1.56	2.62	1.06
BT-04-00-250	9/26/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	5090	< 0.2	155	3700	54.8	3.61	59.9	0.23	0.06	0.17	<0.01	1.88	1.08	-0.8
BT-04-00-270	9/25/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	82.2	<0.2	42.1	50.9	119	4.18	54.2	0.02	0.01	<0.01	0.01	<0.3	8.27	8.27
BT-04-00-290	9/25/02	-80 SIEVE	105123	142	1.2	65.9	110	225	4.46	84.9	0.01	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.3	8.01	8.01

		Appendix E. SVL Lab for the B Water Extr	oratory Raullion Min actable A	aw Analy e Site nalysis	tic Result	5		
Sample 1.1. Number	Sample Date	Comments	Job_ld	Arsenic (mg/L)	Cadmium (mg/L)	Copper (mg/L)	Lead (mg/L)	Zinc (mg/L)
BS-04-02-131	9/25/02	EXTRACTION 1:10 RATIO	105126	3.41	0.414	0.456	1.63	33
BS-04-00-191	9/26/02	EXTRACTION 1:10 RATIO	105126	0.037	0.0028	0.0347	<0.005	0.124
BS-04-00-231	9/26/02	EXTRACTION 1:10 RATIO	105126	<0.010	0.0267	1.3	<0.005	1.64
BT-04-01-130	9/25/02	EXTRACTION 1:10 RATIO	105126	0.761	0.0051	0.266	0.185	0.385
BT-04-00-170	9/25/02	EXTRACTION 1:10 RATIO	105126	0.116	<0.002	0.287	0.0148	0.2
BT-04-00-210	9/26/02	EXTRACTION 1:10 RATIO	105126	0.104	0.0069	0.115	0.0194	0.637

		Appen	dix E. SVI for Surfac	Laborate the Bullio e Water S	ory Raw Ana n Mine Site ample Resul	lytic Result ts	S				
Sample 1.2. Num ber	Sample Date	Comments	Job_ld	Calcium (mg/L)	Magnesium (mg/L)	Hardness (mg/L)	Arsenic (mg/L)	Cadmium (mg/L)	Copper (mg/L)	Lead (mg/L)	Zinc (mg/L)
MT-CSA-H2O	9/27/02	AS VALUES < 0.033MG/L ARE ESTIMATED.	105127	28.9	6.59	99.4	0.026	0.0444	0.771	0.0115	4.68
MT-CSB-H2O	9/27/02		105127	28.9	6.68	99.7	0.126	0.044	0.798	0.039	4.63
MT-CSC-H2O	9/27/02	AS VALUES < 0.033MG/L ARE ESTIMATED.	105127	28.7	6.58	98.8	0.014	0.0419	0.691	0.0069	4.48
MT-CSD-H2O	9/27/02	AS VALUES < 0.033MG/L ARE ESTIMATED.	105127	28.4	6.49	97.7	0.02	0.0411	0.654	0.0084	4.49
MT-CSE-H2O	9/27/02	AS VALUES <0.033 MG/L ARE ESTIMATED.	105127	16.4	3.64	55.9	0.014	0.0105	0.167	<0.005	1.18
MT-CSF-H2O	9/27/02		105127	16.5	3.71	56.5	<0.01	0.0102	0.159	<0.005	1.13
MT-CSG-H2O	9/27/02		105127	14.9	3.43	51.3	<0.01	0.0079	0.121	<0.005	0.869

NOTE: Sample numbers are labeled as follows in the field notes and in the SVL analytical reports:

MT-CSA-H2O = CS1

 $\begin{array}{l} \text{MT-CSB-H2O} = \text{CS2} \\ \text{MT-CSC-H2O} = \text{CS3} \\ \text{MT-CSD-H2O} = \text{CS4} \\ \text{MT-CSE-H2O} = \text{CS7} \\ \text{MT-CSF-H2O} = \text{CS5} \\ \text{MT-CSG-H2O} = \text{CS6} \\ \end{array}$

7/	5	0	/n	2	
1	4	O	U	J	

		Арро	endix E. Strea	SVL Labo for the Bu im Sedim	oratory Ra ullion Mine ent Samp	iw Analyt e Site le Result:	ic Results s	5		
Sample 1.3. Number	Sample Date	Comments	Job_ld	Arsenic (mg/kg)	Cadmium (mg/kg)	Copper (mg/kg)	Lead (mg/kg)	Zinc (mg/kg)	Ph	Conductivity (umhos/cm)
MT-CSA-SED	9/27/02	NONE	105124	2170	13.6	911	818	1120	6.06	445
MT-CSB-SED	9/27/02	NONE	105124	1870	16.3	838	724	1110	5.94	410
MT-CSC-SED	9/27/02	NONE	105124	2480	18.1	1180	876	1480	5.95	439
MT-CSD-SED	9/27/02	NONE	105124	2010	17.6	1150	755	1440	5.83	341
MT-CSE-SED	9/27/02	NONE	105124	1720	51.6	1790	577	4060	6.92	437
MT-CSF-SED	9/27/02	NONE	105124	1200	31.6	653	466	2340	6.81	317
MT-CSG-SED	9/27/02	NONE	105124	1180	38.2	837	498	2600	6.94	344

NOTE: Sample numbers are labeled as follows in the field notes and in the SVL analytical reports:

MT-CSA-SED = CS1 MT-CSB-SED = CS2 MT-CSC-SED = CS3 MT-CSD-SED = CS4 MT-CSE-SED = CS7 MT-CSF-SED = CS5 MT-CSG-SED = CS6

SVL QUALITY CONTROL INFORMATION

SVL JOB No: 105123											
Analyte	Method	Matrix	Units	Prep Blank	True LCS	Found	LCS BR	Analysi Date			
Arsenic Cadmium Copper Lead Zinc pH Spec. Cond. ABP Acid Generating Acid Neut. Pot. Non-Ext Sulfur,S Sulfate Sulfur,S Sulfate Sulfur,S	6010B 6010B 6010B 6010B 6010B 9045 120.1 EPA600 EPA600 EPA600 LECO LECO LECO	SOIL SOIL SOIL SOIL SOIL SOIL SOIL SOIL	ng/kg ng/kg ng/kg ng/kg mg/kg umbds/cm TCaCO3/k TCaCO3/k TCaCO3/k TCaCO3/k tCaCO3/k tCaCO3/k tCaCO3/k	<1.0 <0.20 0.43 <0.50 <0.50 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A <0.010 <0.010 <0.010	283 50.7 169 84.7 149 9.07 400 42.0 9.31 52.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A	283 49.4 178 86.9 142 8.56 413 40.5 9.37 49.9	100.0 97.4 105.3 102.6 95.3 94.4 103.3 96.4 100.6 96.4 100.6 96.0 N/A N/A N/A	3/16/0 3/16/0 3/16/0 3/16/0 3/16/0 3/15/0 3/15/0 3/15/0 3/15/0 3/15/0 3/15/0 3/15/0 3/15/0			

LEGEND:

LCS - Laberatory Control Sample

LCS ER = LCS Percant Recovery

N/A = Not Applicable

3/17/03 12:03

vii

DVD A	NALYTICAL	. 11	NC.			1	Part	II Dupl	Quality icate and	Contro Spike	l Repor Analysi
Clien Test	t :BITTERRO Method Matr	OT R	essoratic -QC SAMPI Units	N INC E ID Result	Duplicate Found	01	MSD- RPD&	Result	SV Natrix Spika SPK ADD	L JOB No	t 105123 Anelys_s Date
As	60108 SOIL	1	ng/kg	6210	5630	M	2.8	6450	100	R >45	3/16/23
12	6010B SOIL	- 2	ng/kg	2570	N/A		N/A	2680	100	110.0	3/16/53
Cd	SOIDE SOIL	1	ng/kg	24.7	119	м	0.0	119	100	94.3	3/16/03
20	SOLOB SOIL	4	mg/kg	<0.20	N/A		N/A	93.0	100	93.0	3/16/03
	6010B SUIL		mg/kg	1190	1320	M	0.8	1310	100	120.0	3/16/13
Ph	6010B SOIL	1	ng/kg	4620	4780		N/A	159	100	105.4	3/16/03
Pb	6010B SOIL	2	ng/kg	1500	N/2	~	N/3	1620	100	8 545	3/16/03
Zn	6010B SOIL	1	ma/ka	1750	1910	M	0.0	1910	100	120.0	3/10/22
Zn	6010B SOIL	2	ng/kg	43.4	N/A		N/A	132	100	RR 6	3/15/03
рĦ	9045 SOIL	1		3.70	3.65	1	1.4	N/A	N/A	N/8	3/16/23
COND	120.1 SOIL	1	umhos/c	2340	2330	- 1	0.4	N/A	N/A	87/3	3/16/03
ABP	EPA600 SOIL	1	TCaCO3/	-24.3	-20.9		15.0	N/A	N/A	N/A	3/15/03
AGP	EPA600 SOIL	3	TCaCO3/	26.9	26.6		1.1	N/A	N/A	N/A	3/15/53
ANP	EPA600 SOIL	1	TCaCO3/	2.62	5.70	1	74.0	N/A	N/A	N/A	3/15/03
S N-EX	LECO SOIL	1	4	0.060	0.060		0.0	N/A	N/A	N/A	3/15/03
S-PYR	LECO SOIL	1		0.860	0.850	5	1.2	N/A	N/A	N/A	3/15/03
5-504	LECO SOIL	1		0.750	0.740		1.3	N/A	N/A	N/A	3/15/03
8-101	LECO SOIL	1		1.67	1.65		1.2	N/A	N/A	N/A	3/15/03

LEGEND:

LEGEND: RPDI = (SAM - DUP//(SAM + DUP)/2) * 100) UDL = Both SAM & DUP not detected. "Result or "found: Interference regired dilution. RPDI = (SSK - MSD//(SFK + MSD/2) * 100) M in Ouplicate/MSD column indicates MSD. SPIKE ADD column, & = Post Digest Spike; IR = Forcent Recovery N/A = Not Analyzed: R > 4S = Result nore than 4X the Spike Added QC Sample 1: SVL SAM No.: 326240 Client Sample ID: BULL-XS-04-02-131 QC Sample 2: SVL SAM No.: 326250 Client Sample ID: BULL-XT-04-01-150

3/17/03 12:22

VL ANALITIC		VENTION	Pa	rt I Prep B	lank and Lal	porator	y Contro SVL JOB N	ol Sampl
Analyte	Method	Matrix	Units	Prep Blank	True LCS-	Found	LCS %R	Analysi Date
Arsenic Cadmium Copper Lead	200.7 200.7 200.7 200.7 200.7 200.7	ESOIL ESOIL ESOIL ESOIL ESOIL	mg/L Ext mg/L Ext mg/L Ext mg/L Ext mg/L Ext	<0.010 <0.0020 <0.0030 <0.0050 <0.0050	1.00 1.50 1.00 1.00 1.00	1.07 1.04 0.965 0.995 1.02	107.0 104.0 96.5 99.5 102.0	3/17/0 3/16/0 3/17/0 3/16/0 3/16/0 3/16/0

LCS + Laboratory Control Sample

LES IR « LCS Percent Rec

Miller (2+23 (4-28	FIGE STE ANALYTICAL			+1087	(83089)	1-124	P (21) 34	6-028
OVL ANALYTICAL, I	NC.		1	Part I	[Duplic	Quality (ate and s	Control Spike A	Report
Client IBITTERROOT I	C SAMPLE ID	seult	uplicate or Found	MSD- RPDN	Result	SVI SPK ADD	BR	105126 Anelysie Date
As 200.7 ESOIL Cd 200.7 ESOIL Cu 200.7 ESOIL Pb 200.7 ESOIL Pb 200.7 ESOIL	1 mg/L Ex 0. 1 mg/L Ex 0.	.761 .0051 .266 .185 .385	0.671 0.0050 0.240 0.150 0.386	12.6 2.0 10.3 20.9 0.3	1.82 1.04 1.26 1.08 1.42	1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	105.9 103.5 99.4 89.5 103.5	3/17/03 3/16/03 3/17/03 3/16/03 3/16/03

LEGEND: RPOX = (|SAM - DUP|/((SAM + DUP)/2) = 100) UDL = Both SAM & DUP not detected. *Result or *Found: Interference regired dilution. RPOX = (|SAM - DUP|/((SAM + DUP)/2) = 100) H in Duplicate/HSD column indicates HSD. RPOX = ([SPK - MSD//((SPK + MSD)/2) = 100) H in Duplicate/HSD column indicates HSD. SPIKE ADD column, A * Post Digest Spike; SK = Percent Recovery N/A + Not Analyzed; B > 4S = Result more than 4X the Spike Added QC Sample 1: SVI SAM No.: 326275 Client Sample ID: BULL-XT-04-01+130

3/18/03 14:30

Client :BITTE	RROOT REST	ORATION	INC				SVL JOB 1	fo: 105127
Analyte	Method	Matrix	Units	Prep Blank	True-LCS-	Pound	LCS &R	Analysis Date
Arsenic Calcium Cadmium Copper Hardness Magnesium Lead Zinc	200.7 200.7 200.7 200.7 200.7 200.7 200.7 200.7 200.7	WATER WATER WATER WATER WATER WATER WATER	mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L	<0.010 <0.040 <0.0020 0.0048 <0.265 <0.040 <0.0050 <0.0050	1.00 20.0 1.00 1.00 132 20.0 1.00 1.00	0.929 19.5 0.950 0.993 126 18.8 0.965 0.926	92.9 97.5 95.0 99.3 95.5 94.0 96.5 92.6	3/07/03 3/07/03 3/07/03 3/07/03 3/07/03 3/07/03 3/07/03 3/07/03

LCS = Laboratory Control Sample LCS IR = LCS Percent Recovery

N/A = Not Applicable

3/11/03 8:37

SVL ANALYTICAL, INC.

Quality Control Report Part II Duplicate and Spike Analysis

Clie	nt :BITTERROOT Method Matrix	RESTORATION QC SAMPLE Units	INC ID Result	Duplicate or Pound	MSD- RPDS	SV Matrix Spike Result SPK ADD	L JOB N	Analysis Date
As	200.7 WATERS	1 mg/L	0.014	0.010	33.3	0.955 1.00	94.1	3/07/03
Ca	200.7 WATERS	1 mg/L	16.4	16.6	1.2	36.1 20.0	98.5	3/07/03
Cd	200.7 WATERS	1 mg/L	0.0105	0.0109	3.7	0.958 1.00	94.8	3/07/03
Cu	200.7 WATERS	1 mg/L	0.167	0.171	2.4	1.16 1.00	99.3	3/07/03
Hdns	200.7 WATERS	1 mg/L	55.9	56.5	1.1	184 132	97.0	3/07/03
Mg	200.7 WATERS	1 mg/L	3.64	3.68	1.1	22.7 20.0	95.3	3/07/03
Pb	200.7 WATERS	1 mg/L	<0.0050	<0.0050	UDL	0.958 1.00	95.8	3/07/03
Zn	200.7 WATERS	1 mg/L	1.18	1.19	0.8	2.08 1.00	90.0	3/07/03

LEGEND :

-

RPOI = ([SAM - DUP]/((SAM + DUP)/2) = 10D) UDL = Both SAM & DUP not detected. =Result or "Found: Interference reqired dilution. RPOI = ([SPK - MSD]/((SPK + MSD)/2) = 10D) M in Duplicate/MSD column indicates MSD. SPIKE ADD column. A = Post Digest Spike: IR = Percent Recovery N/A = Not Analyzed; R > 4S = Result more than 4X the Spike Added QC Sample 1: SVL SAM No.: 326280 Client Sample ID: CS7

3/11/03 8:37

2/12/02 10.15

SVL ANALYTICAL, INC.

Quality Control Report Part I Prep Blank and Laboratory Control Sample

Client (BITTER	ROOT REST	DRATION	INC		-		SVL JOB :	to: 105124
Analyte	Method	Matrix	Units	Prep Blank	True IA	S Found	LCS %R	Analysis Date
Arsenic Cadmium Copper Lead Zinc pH Spac. Cond.	60108 60108 60108 60108 9045 120.1	SOIL SOIL SOIL SOIL SOIL SOIL	mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg umhqs/cm	<1.0 <0.20 <0.30 <0.50 <0.50 N/A 0.010	283 50.7 169 84.7 149 8.60 465	280 49.9 175 87.9 144 8.53 439	96.9 98.4 103.6 103.8 96.6 99.2 94.4	3/12/03 3/16/03 3/17/03 3/16/03 3/16/03 3/16/03 3/14/03 3/14/03

LEGEND: LCS - Laboratory Control Sample

LCS RR = LCS Percent Recovery

N/A = Not Applicable

SVL ANALYTICAL, INC.

Quality Control Report Part II Duplicate and Spike Analysis

Test	Method Matrix	QC SAMPL Units	N INC E ID Result	Duplicate	07	MSD RPDe	SV Hatrix Spike Result SPK ADD	L JOB N	Analysis
As Cd Cu Pb Zn	6010B SOIL 6010B SOIL 6010B SOIL 6010B SOIL 6010B SOIL	2 mg/kg 2 mg/kg 2 mg/kg 2 mg/kg 2 mg/kg	2170 13.6 911 818 1120	2420 112 1100 961 1440	MMMMM	0.8	2440 100 111 100 1100 100 941 100 1390 100	R >4S 97.4 R >4S 123.0	3/17/03 3/16/03 3/17/03 3/16/03

LEGEND :

17

LEGEND: RPDR = (|SAM - DUP|/((SAM + DUP)/2) * 100) UDL = Both SAM & DUP not detected. "Result or "Found: Interference rectired dilution. RPDR = (|SFK - MSD //((SFK + MSD)/2) * 100) M in Duplicate/MSD column indicates MSD. SPIKE ADD column, A = Post Digest Setke; IR = Percent Recovery N/A = Not Analyzed; R > 45 = Result more than 4X the Spike Added QC Sample 2: BVL BAM No.: 326266 Client Sample ID: CS01

3/17/03 13:16

SVL ANALYTICAL, INC.

Quality Control Report Part II Duplicate and Spike Analysis

Clie	nt :BIT	TERROOT	RESTORATION	INC						
Test	Method	Matrix	QC SAMPLE Units	ID Result	Puplicate or Found	RPDa	Result	trix Spike SPK ADD	4R	Analysis Date
COND pH	120.1 9045	SOIL	1 umhos/c	437 6.92	435 6.93	0.5	N/A N/A	N/A N/A	N/A N/A	3/14/03

LEGEND:

LECEND: RPDT = ([SAM - DUP]/((SAM + DUP)/2) = 100) UDL = Both SAM & DUP not detected. "Result or "Found: Interference regired dilution. SPDT = ([SPK - MSD]/((SPK + MSD)/2) = 100) M in Duplicate/MSD column indicates MSD. SPIKE ADD column, A = Post Digest Spike: TR = Percent Recovery N/A = Not Analyzed; R > 45 = Result fore than 4X the Spike Added QC Sample 1: SVI SAM No.: 326260 Client Sample ID: CS07

3/17/03 13:16

CHAIN OF CUSTODY RECORDS FOR BULLION MINE

		-																1
•				CH	AIN	0	U	US.	EO	DY	RE	3	DRI	-			Pa	se 1 of
lient: Bittervoot	Lestovati	on loc.	(BRI	NOTES											1			- Aller
ontact: Gart Ma	ssey			1) Ensu	tre prop	er cont	ainer	packag	dui		-		Tab	le 1	Ma	trix Type		TWO ISI TAS NO4
ddress: 445 Gu	ast low	n		2) Ship	sample	brom	pthy fo.	llowing	collec	tion.		= Su	rface	Water		Ground W	ater	SVL JOB
Corvallis	961-49	828		3) Des PO#:	ignate	Sampl	e Reje	oct Dis	positi	uo	T	W = 20	utseu	= Oth	ter (S	pecify)	5	
N Number: 406-	961- 24	当ち 40	56	Project	Name	Bu	110	- 5	KAH	12	100 1	ampl	trs Sig	natur	2 C 16	cue Ang	puald	
ab Name: SVL Analyt	ical, Inc.	(208)	784-12	88	FAX	(208)	783-	0891		12	F		An	alyse	s Re	quired		1
ddress: One Governi	nent Gulch,	Kellogg.	ID 838	37-092	6							-	-					
	Collec	tion	W	scella	neous		P.	reser	vativ	(s)		1	_		5		-	
Sample ID	Date	Time	(.iinl) :yo	e I Pe	crimers	N/A : pasa	(4100 221) 12	7			icity)	SlotaH	13		R	4		Comments
		1 control of	Collected b	IdaT moril	No. of Con	Sample Fil	HNOI	HCL	FOSTH	HOWN	Other (Spr	12401	CY	. 00	न्नय	NZ		
terter cs7	9127102	Fight	CF/DC	1	*	Z	-	1				2	4	7	3	1		
C501- C507	9127 02	5.30PH	c+100	3	14	Z	1	+				7	7	7	7	1		
CS6	9127102	S:40M	cripo	-	4	2	-	>				1	2	2	2	1	-	
C.S.G.	9127/02	5.46 PM	cr/be	M	4	Z	7	-				7	1	1	1	1	_	
C.S.F.	9127 02	H'NOW H	c F/pc	4	4	Z	-	1			1	7	1	2	7	1	_	
0.5 7	9127102	Md Sh.h	crlbc	3	-	Z	3	-	-		1	2	7	7	2	1	-	
C.S.4	9127102	3:11 PM	CF GH	+	4	Z	-	1				7	1	7	7	3		
0.54	9127/02.	3:15PM	CF & M	32	100	N	7	-	1			7	1 V	2	7	1	7	1
C5 3	9/27/02	14× 00:01	celem	4	4	3		5				2	1	1	1			
1643	9127102	NY 15 AM	C+16 M	N	4	2	1	154	1	(1	2	1	1	1	-	10 2	A
elinquished by:				Date:			Intel		Rech	R	6	10	2ml				70/22/02	Ting: 4
clinquished by:		11 A130	1.200	Bute:		-	inet:		- HECO	Near by	-	1					Daffer '	Dime

COC RECORDS

	Page 2 of 1 - 7	W BOF TAS	ald.			~ ~ ~ ~ ~	Comments											1/22/02 18:41	
12 15 4KE	ORD	Table 1 Matrix Type Surface Water, 2 = Ground Water Soil/Sediment, 4 = Rinsate, 5 = O	Waste, 7= Other (Specify) plers Signature: //a/c 478 904	Analyses Required			20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 2	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	1111	1111	4004	11111	1111	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	1111	1111	1000	The is the	1
1 Corr and he level	F CUSTODY REC	stainer packaging. aptiy following collection. de Reject Disposition 3 =	ALION - RAMS Sau	1783-0891		Preservative(s)	H KBCH (Ice Only) HCL HCL HCL HCL HCL HCL HCL HCL	7	7	7	7	2	7	2	7	1	200	Time: D Recipitation	A second in the
ultral	CHAIN O	 Ensure proper co Ship samples proi Designate Samp 	POM: 724400 Project Name: Bu	58 FAX (208	37-0929	iscellaneous	Matrix Type From Table I No. of Containers Sample Filtered ? Y/N	1 t N	3 1 2	1 1 N	3 1 N	N T 9	3 1 N	6 1 2	N 7 E.	6 1 N	3 1 N	Date: 7/30/02	
	an 'the teel	928	491	(208) 784-12	Kellogg, ID 838	tion M	Collected by: (Init.)	12:13 colom	12:15 CF/BM	11:25 64/641	11:25 cp/cm	430. 38/au	5:00-5 B/BW	W9/94 -5 H.C	2:45 - 48,PW	3: 05 . 4 8/BW	Wayas asp. 4		
A ALANTE	+ control	hassey) Last Lan	- 13/01 -	dytical, Inc.	rnment Gulch,	Collec	Date	9124 1622	\$127/02	4127102	3127/02	250 9124 102	9126 102	1/24/02	1 9126102	"Halloz.	1 9/24/02		
5	Clean: 121-1412 2 9-165	Contact: Ground IN Address: 4445 00	Phone Number: 406	Lab Name: SVL Ana	Address: One Gove		Sample ID	052-057	. 6502	. 654	Losul.	BULL XT-04.00	Buil-x5-04-00-211	011-x1-04-00130	Buil- X5-04-00-19	'Bull- x1 - 04-00-210	0-201-X5-04-01-26	tellaquished by:). f.S.	- in assessments

Provide Signation to the second of the secon	count findly some Lig president	ANALYSES REQUIRED	2) 124 314	NS RS RS RS RS RS RS RS RS RS RS RS RS RS	1111	111111111111111111111111111111111111111	7 7 7		7 7 7 7 7 7 7	7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	7 7 7 7 7 7 7		7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	7 7 7 7 7 7	7 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	7 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	11111	
Bullion - RAMS Bullion - RAMS Supl	Re	1258	eservatives	00400 HOAN 4025H 4025H 20H EDUNH							and the second s							
. Client: Bitterroot Kestoration, Inc Lo Contact: Gart Massey Address: 445 90 ast Jane Richress: 445 90 ast Jane Brone: 406-961-4991	Fax 406 -961 -4626	lab: SVL Analytical, Inc. 208-734-1	One Government Company	Sample ID Jarre Time de 12 10. Contrat de 10. Contr	~ 1 2 mg/s 10:50 and 25/22 10:50 mg/sg/	1 1 2 mg/gb w2 00: 1 1: 16 12 2 30 - 10 - 5 - 11 - 2	HUIL-XT- 04-00-230 41.11.2 2:10 PM 58 BW 6 1 L	Will-XT 04 00 170 9/25/02 2:00 FM 20/ 1 0	B3-12126 9/26/02 16000 38/5W 3 1 U	-1 1 E Majas mas 20/22/1 1/11 10 40-52 - 100 100 - 100	1 1 E males 13/05 2:30 pm 39/20 1 L	-1 1 9 Male me os: 11 20/ 52/6 922-00-10-1X-1708	BUL-XT-0401-170. 9125102 3:15pm 584 6 1 L	BT 40 112 9/25/02 4: 30pm 59 6 1	BUULXTOHOO290 4125/02 2:46pm 6 1 1	BULL-XT-OH OF-130 1255102 3: 001 001 6 1 0	BULLYSON 02 151 "/25/02 2:25 M BW 3 1 L	BULL X5-04-02131 9126/02 \$:05 pm 0.80 m 2

Sough IO	Date	Time	Matrix (Sesi	1) Ana 14	sis Robuired	-
-			S	1 Nos Ca	Cape 15	
101-1-1-101	eolhel	12:15:00			1	+
Sol -41 -28	to/be/b	12.25.00			1	-
BT101-134.	co/9c/b	15.15 W		X	1	
6710115	Colse/b	17:30:00		X		-
Bul-1-02-300	~0/98/b	10:00:00		< -		
Qu1-1-15-301.		10:30:00		X	1	
205-201-12		13:00:00			1	
Bull -1-05-303		13:30:00			11	
Bull-1-1.5-304		14:00:00		X	1	
Bull-1-02 - 305		14715:00		X	. 1	
Bul -1-00-306		14:45:00		X	T OC	1-1-01-0-1
Rull-1-02-307		15:00:00		X	1	000 10 1
All-1-03-708.		15:30:0		X	1	
Bull -1-02-309		16:00:00		X	-	
AIL DIA		16:30:00	A I		YAT	7

Abandoned Mine Site Investigation – Bullion Mine, Jack & Jill Creeks, Montana

7/28/03

(a) 10 Disconcereted Marensis Th, 20) Concreted PH conductance Harmine PH conductance Harmine Salid 400-111 0/075003 Salid X X X X X X X 400-111 0/075003 Salid X	(b) (1) <th>Internal District District Octoon Internal National <</th> <th>Internal Data Contention Material Production Produc</th> <th>Het BI (46.13) Dar Concrition (47.03) Dar Concrition (47.03) Material (47.03) Control (47.03) Control (47.03)</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>Total Cletals (As, Cit, Cu,</th> <th>Extractable Metals (As, Cd,</th> <th>Actd Based</th> <th></th> <th>Specific</th> <th></th> <th>Total</th>	Internal District District Octoon Internal National <	Internal Data Contention Material Production Produc	Het BI (46.13) Dar Concrition (47.03) Dar Concrition (47.03) Material (47.03) Control (47.03)				Total Cletals (As, Cit, Cu,	Extractable Metals (As, Cd,	Actd Based		Specific		Total
400-11 00/2600 Soli x	400011 007200 501 x <	Action Sol Sol <t< th=""><th>Action Descent Sector Action Actin Actin Actin</th></t<> <th>Account Different Set A</th> <th>pie ID</th> <th>Date Collected</th> <th>Matorial</th> <th>(u) ind</th> <th>Cu, Pb, Zn)</th> <th>Accounting</th> <th>Hd</th> <th>Canductatice</th> <th>liardness</th> <th>Sellda</th>	Action Descent Sector Action Actin Actin Actin	Account Different Set A	pie ID	Date Collected	Matorial	(u) ind	Cu, Pb, Zn)	Accounting	Hd	Canductatice	liardness	Sellda
4.00/171 00/2603 Sei X	44.06-171 09/2603 Sei X	Midelity Direction Direction <thdirection< th=""> Direction <thdirecidencing< th=""> <thdirection< th=""> <t< td=""><td>Holderight Description Description</td><td>Holority Descent Sec P T X</td><td>161-20-00</td><td>CURSUED CONSCIENCE</td><td>100</td><td></td><td>Y</td><td>X</td><td>-</td><td>~</td><td>-</td><td></td></t<></thdirection<></thdirecidencing<></thdirection<>	Holderight Description	Holority Descent Sec P T X	161-20-00	CURSUED CONSCIENCE	100		Y	X	-	~	-	
4.00-191 06/2603 Soil X	H-4-0-191 Diržetio Sal X	54-66-161 01/2600 Sale X	##0011 010601 Su X <thx< th=""> X <th< td=""><td>(1000) (1000)<td>14100-171</td><td>09/2503</td><td>Sol</td><td></td><td></td><td>×</td><td>×</td><td>X</td><td></td><td></td></td></th<></thx<>	(1000) (1000) <td>14100-171</td> <td>09/2503</td> <td>Sol</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>×</td> <td>×</td> <td>X</td> <td></td> <td></td>	14100-171	09/2503	Sol			×	×	X		
4:00-211 0:012600 Seil X	Hologential Description Sein X <td>Hologrip Dolzeno (100-21) Seli X<!--</td--><td>Hotostij Descent Sei X X X X X X Hotostij 60021 600 50 X X X X X X Hotostij 60020 50 X X X X X X X Hotostij 605500 501 X X X X X X X Hotostij 605500 501 X X X X X X X Hotostij 605500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 605500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 605500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 605000 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 600500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 600500 100500 5666000 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 100500 60500 100500 100500</td><td>#10311 09580 Sai X X X X X X \$40131 09200 Sai X X X X X X \$40131 09200 Sai X X X X X X \$40130 09200 Sai X X X X X X \$40130 09200 530 X X X X X X \$40130 09200 09300 530 X X X X X \$40130 09200 09300 09300 1416 X X X X X \$40030 09300 09300 09300 1416 X X X X X \$400300 09300 09300 1416 X X X X X \$400300 09300 1416 X X X X X X \$400300 1416 X X X X X X \$400300 1416 X X X X X X \$400300 1417 17000 566666</td><td>04-00-101</td><td>09/2603</td><td>Soil</td><td>Í</td><td>×</td><td>×</td><td>×</td><td>X</td><td></td><td></td></td>	Hologrip Dolzeno (100-21) Seli X </td <td>Hotostij Descent Sei X X X X X X Hotostij 60021 600 50 X X X X X X Hotostij 60020 50 X X X X X X X Hotostij 605500 501 X X X X X X X Hotostij 605500 501 X X X X X X X Hotostij 605500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 605500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 605500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 605000 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 600500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 600500 100500 5666000 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 100500 60500 100500 100500</td> <td>#10311 09580 Sai X X X X X X \$40131 09200 Sai X X X X X X \$40131 09200 Sai X X X X X X \$40130 09200 Sai X X X X X X \$40130 09200 530 X X X X X X \$40130 09200 09300 530 X X X X X \$40130 09200 09300 09300 1416 X X X X X \$40030 09300 09300 09300 1416 X X X X X \$400300 09300 09300 1416 X X X X X \$400300 09300 1416 X X X X X X \$400300 1416 X X X X X X \$400300 1416 X X X X X X \$400300 1417 17000 566666</td> <td>04-00-101</td> <td>09/2603</td> <td>Soil</td> <td>Í</td> <td>×</td> <td>×</td> <td>×</td> <td>X</td> <td></td> <td></td>	Hotostij Descent Sei X X X X X X Hotostij 60021 600 50 X X X X X X Hotostij 60020 50 X X X X X X X Hotostij 605500 501 X X X X X X X Hotostij 605500 501 X X X X X X X Hotostij 605500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 605500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 605500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 605000 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 600500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 600500 100500 5666000 100500 100500 100500 100500 Hotostij 100500 60500 100500 100500	#10311 09580 Sai X X X X X X \$40131 09200 Sai X X X X X X \$40131 09200 Sai X X X X X X \$40130 09200 Sai X X X X X X \$40130 09200 530 X X X X X X \$40130 09200 09300 530 X X X X X \$40130 09200 09300 09300 1416 X X X X X \$40030 09300 09300 09300 1416 X X X X X \$400300 09300 09300 1416 X X X X X \$400300 09300 1416 X X X X X X \$400300 1416 X X X X X X \$400300 1416 X X X X X X \$400300 1417 17000 566666	04-00-101	09/2603	Soil	Í	×	×	×	X		
4.00-131 0.07600 Sail X	W-00-211 00/2600 Sail X	W-00-211 00/2600 Seil X	100031 001660 Sai X <	HO031 00580 Sai X <thx< th=""> X <thx< td=""><td>04-00-211</td><td>09/2603</td><td>Soil</td><td>Ļ</td><td></td><td>X</td><td>×</td><td>X</td><td></td><td></td></thx<></thx<>	04-00-211	09/2603	Soil	Ļ		X	×	X		
407-151 002/600 Seil X	H-01-131 097800 Sail X	H-0-1-151 097800 Sail X	1000000000000000000000000000000000000	1010110 002500 301 x x x x x x 1010120 002500 301 x x x x x x 1010120 002500 301 x x x x x x 1010120 002500 901 x x x x x x 1010120 002500 101 x x x x x x 1010120 002500 101 x x x x x 1010200 90100 101000 90100 x x x x 1010200 90100 101000 90100 x x x x 1010120 90100 101000 90100 101000 90100 x 1010000 90100 90100 101000 90100 101000 1010000 901000	04-00-231	09/2603	198	X	×	X	×	×		
400-2/11 03/2501 Soil X	440-2/11 02/2503 Seil X	H-00-211 092500 Sol X	0400-211 0975500 Sain X	6400-311 002500 Sol ×	04-01-251	09/2603	33	X		X	X	X		
4.00-391 09/2500 Soli X	4.00-391 0925601 Soil X	44.00-391 00/2500 Sole x	140-131 097500 586 ×	440-321 003560 Soli ×	04-00-271	05/203	(105)	24		X	×	X		
(0)-130 00/2503 Waske X	4(4)-130 09/2500 Masle X	H-01-130 0972603 Waste X	H01-130 092603 Mase X	H01-130 092500 Mate X	14-00-291	09/2203	Soli	x		×	×	×		
(d)-150 09/2500 Waste A X	H01-150 092503 Waste X	H-01-180 09/2503 Waste X	1411-150 092303 Maste X	1411-190 0925303 Mate X	04-01-130	09/2503	Waste	X	×	X	X	X		
470-170 992503 Waste X	4-70-170 09/2503 Waste X	Hold-170 092503 Wasie X	37.001/0 0.02503 Wase X	4760170 092603 Waste X	04-01-150	. 05/2/60	Waste	X		X	×	×		
4.00-190 09/2603 Waste X	#400-190 09/2600 Waste X	Hole Anderlei Anderlei <th< td=""><td>0400100 092600 Wase X</td><td>Ortofition Description Master Propertion Master Propropertion Master Proproperise M</td><td>04-00-170</td><td>09/2503</td><td>Waste</td><td>X</td><td>×</td><td>×</td><td>×</td><td>X</td><td></td><td></td></th<>	0400100 092600 Wase X	Ortofition Description Master Propertion Master Propropertion Master Proproperise M	04-00-170	09/2503	Waste	X	×	×	×	X		
4 00-210 09/2600 Waste X	# 40210 09/2603 Waste X	H-00210 092800 Waste X	0400210 095000 Maste X	0400210 0005000 Waste X	04-00-190	03/2603	Waste	X		X	×	X		
4.00-330 ** 09/2603 Waste X	4-00-230 *** ** * <th< td=""><td>H-00-330 mase Nase Na <th< td=""><td>Artonic 10 Constitution Monte X<td>04:00:310 m 09:32(0) Matter X X X X 04:00:310 0:00:300 Matter X X X X X 01:00:310 0:07:000 0:07:000 Matter X X X X 01:00:310 0:07:000 0:07:000 Matter X X X X 01:00:300 0:07:000 0:07:000 Scienti X X X X 01:00:300 0:07:000 Scienti X X X X X 01:00:300 Scienti X X X X X X 01:00:300 Scienti X X X X X X 01:00:300 Scienti X X X X X 01:00:300 Scienti X X X X X 01:01:300 Scienti X X X X X<td>04-00-210</td><td>09/2603</td><td>Waste</td><td>X</td><td>×</td><td>X</td><td>X</td><td>X.</td><td></td><td></td></td></td></th<></td></th<>	H-00-330 mase Nase Na Na <th< td=""><td>Artonic 10 Constitution Monte X<td>04:00:310 m 09:32(0) Matter X X X X 04:00:310 0:00:300 Matter X X X X X 01:00:310 0:07:000 0:07:000 Matter X X X X 01:00:310 0:07:000 0:07:000 Matter X X X X 01:00:300 0:07:000 0:07:000 Scienti X X X X 01:00:300 0:07:000 Scienti X X X X X 01:00:300 Scienti X X X X X X 01:00:300 Scienti X X X X X X 01:00:300 Scienti X X X X X 01:00:300 Scienti X X X X X 01:01:300 Scienti X X X X X<td>04-00-210</td><td>09/2603</td><td>Waste</td><td>X</td><td>×</td><td>X</td><td>X</td><td>X.</td><td></td><td></td></td></td></th<>	Artonic 10 Constitution Monte X <td>04:00:310 m 09:32(0) Matter X X X X 04:00:310 0:00:300 Matter X X X X X 01:00:310 0:07:000 0:07:000 Matter X X X X 01:00:310 0:07:000 0:07:000 Matter X X X X 01:00:300 0:07:000 0:07:000 Scienti X X X X 01:00:300 0:07:000 Scienti X X X X X 01:00:300 Scienti X X X X X X 01:00:300 Scienti X X X X X X 01:00:300 Scienti X X X X X 01:00:300 Scienti X X X X X 01:01:300 Scienti X X X X X<td>04-00-210</td><td>09/2603</td><td>Waste</td><td>X</td><td>×</td><td>X</td><td>X</td><td>X.</td><td></td><td></td></td>	04:00:310 m 09:32(0) Matter X X X X 04:00:310 0:00:300 Matter X X X X X 01:00:310 0:07:000 0:07:000 Matter X X X X 01:00:310 0:07:000 0:07:000 Matter X X X X 01:00:300 0:07:000 0:07:000 Scienti X X X X 01:00:300 0:07:000 Scienti X X X X X 01:00:300 Scienti X X X X X X 01:00:300 Scienti X X X X X X 01:00:300 Scienti X X X X X 01:00:300 Scienti X X X X X 01:01:300 Scienti X X X X X <td>04-00-210</td> <td>09/2603</td> <td>Waste</td> <td>X</td> <td>×</td> <td>X</td> <td>X</td> <td>X.</td> <td></td> <td></td>	04-00-210	09/2603	Waste	X	×	X	X	X.		
4.00-290 ····· 097603 ··· Waste × <td>4.00-370 ···· 097603 ·· Waste ×</td> <td>4.00-350 ···· 097603 Waste ×</td> <td>14.00.350 1 0.07500 Maste X X X X 0.00.370 007300 Maste X X X X X 0.00370 007300 Maste X X X X X 0.00370 007300 Sefment X X X X X 0.01300 Sefment X X X X X 0.01300 Sefment X X X X X 0.01300 Sefment X X X X X 0.1 91.1000 Sefment X X X X 0.1 91.10000 Sefment X X <td< td=""><td>14-03-35 ··· 097600 ··· Matic × × × × 04-03-30 04/2500 Matic × × × × × 04-03-30 04/2500 Matic × × × × × 04-03-30 04/2500 Matic × × × × × 04-03-30 04/2500 Sefment × × × × × 051 04/2500 Sefment × × × × × 061 04/2500 Sefment × × × × × 061 04/27000 Sefment ×<td>04-00-230</td><td>- 09/2603</td><td>Waste</td><td>ĸ</td><td></td><td>X</td><td>×</td><td>×</td><td></td><td></td></td></td<></td>	4.00-370 ···· 097603 ·· Waste ×	4.00-350 ···· 097603 Waste ×	14.00.350 1 0.07500 Maste X X X X 0.00.370 007300 Maste X X X X X 0.00370 007300 Maste X X X X X 0.00370 007300 Sefment X X X X X 0.01300 Sefment X X X X X 0.01300 Sefment X X X X X 0.01300 Sefment X X X X X 0.1 91.1000 Sefment X X X X 0.1 91.10000 Sefment X X <td< td=""><td>14-03-35 ··· 097600 ··· Matic × × × × 04-03-30 04/2500 Matic × × × × × 04-03-30 04/2500 Matic × × × × × 04-03-30 04/2500 Matic × × × × × 04-03-30 04/2500 Sefment × × × × × 051 04/2500 Sefment × × × × × 061 04/2500 Sefment × × × × × 061 04/27000 Sefment ×<td>04-00-230</td><td>- 09/2603</td><td>Waste</td><td>ĸ</td><td></td><td>X</td><td>×</td><td>×</td><td></td><td></td></td></td<>	14-03-35 ··· 097600 ··· Matic × × × × 04-03-30 04/2500 Matic × × × × × 04-03-30 04/2500 Matic × × × × × 04-03-30 04/2500 Matic × × × × × 04-03-30 04/2500 Sefment × × × × × 051 04/2500 Sefment × × × × × 061 04/2500 Sefment × × × × × 061 04/27000 Sefment × <td>04-00-230</td> <td>- 09/2603</td> <td>Waste</td> <td>ĸ</td> <td></td> <td>X</td> <td>×</td> <td>×</td> <td></td> <td></td>	04-00-230	- 09/2603	Waste	ĸ		X	×	×		
4.00.270 06/2503 Waste X X X X X 4.00.290 06/2503 Waste X X X X X 6.00.290 06/2503 Waste X X X X X 6.00.290 06/2503 Waste X X X X X 6.00.200 Secimenti X X X X X X 6. W17/2003 Secimenti X X X X X X 13.17/2003 Secimenti X	4.00.270 C6/7503 Waste X	4.00.270 06/7503 Waste X	01-00-290 0872601 Mate X	01-03-30 007560 Wrate X	: U\$C'UOTU	03/2603 -	Waste	Y		×	X	X		
(-00-230) 06/2503 Waste X X X X X C501, (-257) M27/2003 Secimenti X </th <td>4-00-290 06/2503 Waste X</td> <td>4-00-200 06/12/303 Waste X X X X X 4-00-200 66/17 #/2/2003 Secimenti X<</td> <td>0.40390 0.42503 0.416 X</td> <td>0.00330 0.01260 0.01260 0.01260 0.01260 0.01260 0.01200 0.0100 0.01000 0.01000 0.01000 0.01000 0.01000</td> <td>04-00-270</td> <td>09/2503</td> <td>Waste</td> <td>14</td> <td></td> <td>X</td> <td>×</td> <td>×</td> <td></td> <td></td>	4-00-290 06/2503 Waste X	4-00-200 06/12/303 Waste X X X X X 4-00-200 66/17 #/2/2003 Secimenti X<	0.40390 0.42503 0.416 X X	0.00330 0.01260 0.01260 0.01260 0.01260 0.01260 0.01200 0.01000 0.01000 0.01000 0.01000 0.01000	04-00-270	09/2503	Waste	14		X	×	×		
CS007, CSC/ # 927/2003 Seckment X<	CS00, CSO7 # 9277000 Sediment X	Coort All Sectore 1 X	Constrain Secter X	Constraint Secienti X	100 100 100	08/2803	Waste			X	×	×		
Cost (2007) Maintain	Count Main Main <t< td=""><td>Count Count X X X X X 66 00272000 Sectment X<td>1000, 100, 100, 100, 100, 100, 100, 100</td><td>Color Color <t< td=""><td>1000 1000 1000</td><td>LUNCLOP P</td><td>Sectment</td><td>X</td><td></td><td></td><td>×</td><td>×</td><td></td><td></td></t<></td></td></t<>	Count Count X X X X X 66 00272000 Sectment X <td>1000, 100, 100, 100, 100, 100, 100, 100</td> <td>Color Color <t< td=""><td>1000 1000 1000</td><td>LUNCLOP P</td><td>Sectment</td><td>X</td><td></td><td></td><td>×</td><td>×</td><td></td><td></td></t<></td>	1000, 100, 100, 100, 100, 100, 100, 100	Color Color <t< td=""><td>1000 1000 1000</td><td>LUNCLOP P</td><td>Sectment</td><td>X</td><td></td><td></td><td>×</td><td>×</td><td></td><td></td></t<>	1000 1000 1000	LUNCLOP P	Sectment	X			×	×		
0.1 W2172003 Sedementi X X X X X X All W2172003 Sedementi X	0.1 W2172003 Secimenti X	0.0 W2172003 Sedmenti X	0.0 <t< td=""><td>33 177300 Second in the second in the</td><td>Con' Con'</td><td>LUNCLOW</td><td>Sectoment</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>×</td><td>X</td><td></td><td></td></t<>	33 177300 Second in the	Con' Con'	LUNCLOW	Sectoment				×	X		
00.1. 01.77(2003) Sectment N X X X X 01 02.1 02.17(2003) Sectment A X <td>00.1. 10277,003 Seckment A X</td> <td>Month Month <th< td=""><td>Biology Distribution Sectment X<td>Montering Softment X</td><td>200.0</td><td>LUNCL CID</td><td>Sectiment</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>×</td><td>X</td><td></td><td></td></td></th<></td>	00.1. 10277,003 Seckment A X	Month Month <th< td=""><td>Biology Distribution Sectment X<td>Montering Softment X</td><td>200.0</td><td>LUNCL CID</td><td>Sectiment</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>×</td><td>X</td><td></td><td></td></td></th<>	Biology Distribution Sectment X <td>Montering Softment X</td> <td>200.0</td> <td>LUNCL CID</td> <td>Sectiment</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>×</td> <td>X</td> <td></td> <td></td>	Montering Softment X	200.0	LUNCL CID	Sectiment				×	X		
3 M2172003 Sediment A X	33 M2 (172) Scoment A X	Signation Scorenti A X	$33 \rightarrow 1277003$ Scienteni A X <td>S3-sim N272000 Scorment X</td> <td>00.4 ·</td> <td>00272003</td> <td>Sediment</td> <td>×</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>×</td> <td>×</td> <td></td> <td></td>	S3-sim N272000 Scorment X	00.4 ·	00272003	Sediment	×			×	×		
02 W2 T2003 Sediment A X - X - X 01 M2 T2003 Sediment A X	02 912 / 72003 Sedment A X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X X X - X	02 92 172003 Sediment A X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X - X X - X X - X X - X X - X	302 1272000 Seciment x	303 1272003 Seciment x x x x x 301 - 1272003 Seciment x x x x 311 1272003 Seciment x x x x 311 1272003 Suface Water x x x x 311 1272003 Suface Water x x x x 311 1272033 Suface Water x x x x 3112033 $3112ee$ $3112ee$ $1212ee$ x x x	23 com	0/27/2003	Sediment	X			- X	×		
01 M2172003 Sediment A X X X X 70 92172003 Surface Waitsr X <td>Oli-i M2 172003 Sediment K X X X X S9. 92 172003 Surface Waiter X<td>OD-1- M2 172003 Sectment K X X X X S1a 92 172003 Surface Watter X<!--</td--><td>301- 3217300 Sectiment k X X</td><td>001 12772003 Sediment A X X X 53 12772003 Surface Water X X X X 56- 12772003 Surface Water X X X X 56- 12772003 Surface Water X X X X 51- 12772003 Surface Water X X X X</td><td>. 002</td><td>C00217.219</td><td>Sedement</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>×</td><td>X</td><td></td><td></td></td></td>	Oli-i M2 172003 Sediment K X X X X S9. 92 172003 Surface Waiter X <td>OD-1- M2 172003 Sectment K X X X X S1a 92 172003 Surface Watter X<!--</td--><td>301- 3217300 Sectiment k X X</td><td>001 12772003 Sediment A X X X 53 12772003 Surface Water X X X X 56- 12772003 Surface Water X X X X 56- 12772003 Surface Water X X X X 51- 12772003 Surface Water X X X X</td><td>. 002</td><td>C00217.219</td><td>Sedement</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>×</td><td>X</td><td></td><td></td></td>	OD-1- M2 172003 Sectment K X X X X S1a 92 172003 Surface Watter X </td <td>301- 3217300 Sectiment k X X</td> <td>001 12772003 Sediment A X X X 53 12772003 Surface Water X X X X 56- 12772003 Surface Water X X X X 56- 12772003 Surface Water X X X X 51- 12772003 Surface Water X X X X</td> <td>. 002</td> <td>C00217.219</td> <td>Sedement</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>×</td> <td>X</td> <td></td> <td></td>	301- 3217300 Sectiment k X	001 12772003 Sediment A X X X 53 12772003 Surface Water X X X X 56- 12772003 Surface Water X X X X 56- 12772003 Surface Water X X X X 51- 12772003 Surface Water X X X X	. 002	C00217.219	Sedement				×	X		
Mar. 912/12003 Surface Watter X X X 16. W2 1/2003 Surface Watter X X X X 16. W2 1/2003 Surface Watter X X X X 16. W2 1/2003 Surface Watter X X X X 16. W2 1/2003 Surface Watter X X X X 17. W2 1/2003 Surface Watter X X X X 17. W2 1/2003 Surface Watter X X X X 17. W2 1/2003 Surface Watter X X X X 17. W2 1/2003 Surface Watter X	Sile 912/12003 Surface Watter X	Bit 912/12003 Surface Watter X<	$312_{$	31_{31} 377200 $3r/acc Water\times36_{31}32772003r/acc Water\times36_{31}32772003r/acc Water\times31_{32}32772003r/acc Water\times31_{32}32772003r/acc Water\times31_{32}32772003r/acc Water\times51_{32}32772003r/acc Water\times51_{32}317200$	201	C00217.2%	Sediment	Y Y			×	×		
B. W2 172003 Surface Watter X X X 15. W2 172003 Surface Watter X X X 16. W2 172003 Surface Watter X X X 14. W2 172003 Surface Watter X X X 13. M2 172003 Surface Watter X X X 13. M2 172003 Surface Watter X X X 15. M2 172003 Surface Watter X X X	36. 32/12/3003 Surface Waiter X <td>36. 32/12/3003 Surface Watter X<td>36$127700$<math>3rtace WattrieXXX$36$$127700$<math>3rtace WattrieX$X$$X$$34$$127700$<math>3rtace WattrieX$X$$X$$31$$127700$<math>3rtace WattrieX$X$$X$$51$$127700$<math>3rtace WattrieX$X$$X$$51$$127700$<math>3rtace WattrieX$X$$X$$77700$<math>3rtace WattrieX$X$$X$$X$$77700$<math>3rtace WattrieX$X$$X$$X$$77700$<math>3rtace Wattrie$X$$X$$X$$X$</math></math></math></math></math></math></math></math></math></td><td>36 1277003 <math>3rrace Watter x x x 36 3277003 <math>3urace Watter x x x 36 3277003 <math>3urace Watter x x x 31 3177003 <math>3urace Watter x x x 51 317703 $3urace Wat$</math></math></math></math></math></math></math></math></math></math></math></math></math></td><td>67</td><td>912712003</td><td>Surface Water</td><td>×</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>×</td><td></td></td>	36. 32/12/3003 Surface Watter X <td>36$127700$<math>3rtace WattrieXXX$36$$127700$<math>3rtace WattrieX$X$$X$$34$$127700$<math>3rtace WattrieX$X$$X$$31$$127700$<math>3rtace WattrieX$X$$X$$51$$127700$<math>3rtace WattrieX$X$$X$$51$$127700$<math>3rtace WattrieX$X$$X$$77700$<math>3rtace WattrieX$X$$X$$X$$77700$<math>3rtace WattrieX$X$$X$$X$$77700$<math>3rtace Wattrie$X$$X$$X$$X$</math></math></math></math></math></math></math></math></math></td> <td>36 1277003 <math>3rrace Watter x x x 36 3277003 <math>3urace Watter x x x 36 3277003 <math>3urace Watter x x x 31 3177003 <math>3urace Watter x x x 51 317703 $3urace Wat$</math></math></math></math></math></math></math></math></math></math></math></math></math></td> <td>67</td> <td>912712003</td> <td>Surface Water</td> <td>×</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>×</td> <td></td>	36 127700 $3rtace WattrieXXX361277003rtace WattrieXXX341277003rtace WattrieXXX311277003rtace WattrieXXX511277003rtace WattrieXXX511277003rtace WattrieXXX777003rtace WattrieXXXX777003rtace WattrieXXXX777003rtace WattrieXXXX$	36 1277003 $3rrace Watter x x x 36 3277003 3urace Watter x x x 36 3277003 3urace Watter x x x 31 3177003 3urace Watter x x x 51 317703 3urace Wat$	67	912712003	Surface Water	×					×	
5. 32.7(2003) 3urlace Watter X X M- 92.7(2003) 3urlace Watter X X 33.+ 92.7(2003) 3urlace Watter X X 33.+ 92.7(2003) 3urlace Watter X X CS7 92.7(2003) 3urlace Watter X X	35. 92.172003 Surface Waityr X X X X 34. 32.772003 Surface Waityr X	55. 32.172003 Surface Watter X X X X 54. 32.172003 Surface Watter X X X X 53. 32.172003 Surface Watter X X X X 53. 32.172003 Surface Watter X X X X -C51 32.172003 Surface Watter X X X X 51- 32.172003 Surface Watter X X X X	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	35. 32/7003 3x/acc Water X X X 31. 32/7003 3x/acc Water X X X 51. 32/7003 3x/acc Water X X X 51. 32/7003 3x/acc Water X X X 51. 32/72003 3x/acc Water X X X 51. 32/72003 3x/acc Water X X X 51. 32/72003 3x/acc Water X X X	C.	8/2 7/2003	Surface Water			2000			×	1111
M- M27/2003 Surface Water X X M- M27/2003 Surface Water X X M- M27/2003 Surface Water X X CS1 M27/2003 Surface Water X X	Mathematical X X X Signer 9/27/2003 Surface Water X X Signer 9/27/2003 Surface Water X X GS7 9/27/2003 Surface Water X X Site 9/27/2003 Surface Water X X Site 9/27/2003 Surface Water X X	34. N27/2003 Surface Water X X 537 3027/2003 Surface Water X X 51- 3027/2003 Surface Water X X 51- 3027/2003 Surface Water X X	83 W212000 Surface Water X 53 W212000 Surface Water X 51	83- N27/2003 Surface Water X 53- N27/2003 Surface Water X 51- N27/2003 Surface Water X 51- N27/2003 Surface Water X 51- N27/2003 Surface Water X 51- X	CK.	127/2003	Surface Water	~					×	
CS7 92.7(2003 Surface Water X CS1 92.7(2003 Surface Water X Surface Water X	S3 92.772003 Surface Water K X CS1 92.772003 Surface Water X X 51- 92.772003 Surface Water X X	Sile M2172003 Surface Water K X X -CSY M2172003 Surface Water X X X 51- M2172003 Surface Water X X X	63- 92172003 Surface Water X 1-CST 92172003 Surface Water X 51- 92172003 Surface Water X Anthree Water X thus surface Mater X Surface Water X thus surface Mater X thus s	63- 92112003 Surface Water X 1-CST 92112003 Surface Water X 51- 92112003 Surface Water X Massey sharfs thatsee shares water X strace water X masses shares water X masses shares water X masses shares share shares	C4.	0/27/2003	Surface Water			-			×	
CS7 N272003 Surjace Water X	CS7 a2772003 Surface Water X 51- M2772003 Surface Water X	CS7 N2772003 Surface Walter N 51- N2772003 Surface Walter X 51- N2772003 Surface Walter X	these y shartes	timessay shartles trace Water X Antace X		CONCILCIE	Surface Water				T		×	
4.0/ Recreated Journey 1	51- 3272003 Surface Water X	ST	Silver with the second survey is the second survey is a survey of the second survey is a survey of the second surv	thesser startes	202	LUNCALCIE	Sutare Water				T		×	
Maria Mariate Vienti A		interference interferen	ethore have	etween states	1001	00021200	Surface Water	×			T		×	
Allasser sharfes	the second and the se					-								
Massey starfez	the second and the second													
Massey starfes	. And have been													
massed sparfes	The house of the second						*/							
massed spector	The house													
massed shafes	The house													

Appendix F. XRF Field Analytical Results for Total Metals



7220 North 16th Street, Suite E Phoenix, AZ 85020 (602) 331-3859 Fax (602) 331-4104

May 21, 2003

1034-1 & 1034-2

Ms. Clare Fitzgerald Bitterroot Restoration, Inc. 445 Quast Lane Corvallis, Montana 59828

X-Ray Fluorescence (XRF) Instrument Details – Response to United States Forest Service (USFS) Comments for Bullion and Idora Site Characterization Reports

Dear Clare:

As discussed during our telephone conversation on Friday, May 9, 2003 the USFS commented on the Bullion and Idora Site Characterization Reports and requested additional information regarding the XRF instrument used in the field. Information regarding the USFS' XRF comment, "To be consistent with the other sections below (e.g. pH, flow meters, etc.) this should state what type of XRF instrument was used, it's approximate upper and lower detection limits, precision, accuracy and limitations," is discussed below. I've included as attachments the XRF summary brief text for the Bullion and Idora sites submitted to BRI in March 2003 and EPA's Method 6200 – 'Field Portable X-Ray Fluorescence Spectrometry for the Determination of Elemental Concentration in Soil and Sediment' for your reference.

- The type of XRF instrument used: Spectrace 9000 portable XRF
- The approximate upper detection limits or quantitation limits is determined as 10 times the sample result's associated standard deviation, which is reported by the instrument. This quantitation limit varies from sample to sample. Typically, an average would be used to determine upper detection limits; however, because the XRF instrument was being used to characterize the site and site-specific characterization samples were not available the above method was employed.
- The approximate lower detection limits is determined as 3 times the sample result's associated standard deviation, which is reported by the instrument. This detection limit varies from sample to sample. Typically, an average would be used to determine lower detection limits; however, because the XRF instrument was being used to characterize the
site and site-specific characterization samples were not available the above method was employed. Additionally, the EPA Method 6200 includes a guide for lower detection limits based on no interference, 600 counts per source and quartz soil, they are as follows:

0	Arsenic (As)	40 ppm
---	--------------	--------

- o Lead (Pb) 20 ppm
- Copper (Cu) 50 ppm
- o Cadmium (Cd) 100 ppm
- o Zinc (Zn) 50 ppm
- Precision: The precision for the XRF instrument is based on site-specific conditions and is discussed in detail in the Quality Assurance/Quality Control section of the XRF summary briefs submitted to BRI for Bullion and Idora sites on March 20, 2003 and March 24, 2003, respectively.
- Accuracy: The accuracy for the XRF instrument is based on site-specific conditions and is discussed in detail in the Quality Assurance/Quality Control section of the XRF summary briefs submitted to BRI for Bullion and Idora sites on March 20, 2003 and March 24, 2003, respectively.
- Limitations: The XRF instrument limitations are discussed in detail in EPA's Method 6200 Section 4.0 'Interferences'.

Sincerely, EMC²

(sent via email)

Lisa N. Gonzales Principal

Enclosures

cc: Joe Flynn, EMC²

Appendix G. Statistical Procedures (Student's t-Test, Least Squares Regressions)

Regression Summary Log_XRF_Arsenic vs. Log_Arsenic Count 18 Num. Missing R .581 R .338

.296

.523

ANOVA Table

RMS Residual

Adjusted R Squared

Log_XRF_Arsenic vs. Log_Arsenic

	DF	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F-Value	P-Value
Regression	1	2.231	2.231	8.155	.0114
Residual	16	4.377	.274		
Total	17	6.608	1.0.00		

Regression Coefficients Log_XRF_Arsenic vs. Log_Arsenic

	Coefficient	Std. Error	Std. Coeff.	t-Value	P-Value
Intercept	1.337	.606	1.337	2.208	.0422
Log_Arsenic	.558	.195	.581	2.856	.0114



Regression Summary Log_XRF_Cadmium v	s. Log_	CADMIUM
Count	18	
Num. Missing	0	
R	.341	
R Squared	.116	
Adjusted R Squared	.061	
RMS Residual	.192	

ANOVA Table Log_XRF_Cadmium vs. Log_CADMIUM

	DF	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F-Value	P-Value
Regression	1	.077	.077	2.102	.1664
Residual	16	.588	.037		
Total	17	.665		a 1.010	

Regression Coefficients Log_XRF_Cadmium vs. Log_CADMIUM

	Coefficient	Std.	Error	Std.	Coeff.	t-Value	P-Value
Intercept	2.034		.046		2.034	44.435	<.0001
Log_CADMIUM	.128		.088		.341	1.450	.1664



Regression Summary Log_XRF_Copper vs. Log_COPPER Count 18 Num. Missing 0 R .447

R Squared	.200
Adjusted R Squared	.150
RMS Residual	.392

ANOVA Table

Log_XRF_Copper vs. Log_COPPER

	DF	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F-Value	P-Value
Regression	1	.612	.612	3.990	.0631
Residual	16	2.456	.153		1.000
Total	17	3.068			

Regression Coefficients Log_XRF_Copper vs. Log_COPPER

	Coefficient	Std. Error	Std. Coeff.	t-Value	P-Value
Intercept	1.306	.492	1.306	2.653	.0174
Log_COPPER	.423	.212	.447	1.998	.0631



Regression Summary Log_XRF_Lead vs. Log_LEAD Count 18 Num. Missing 0 R .612

R	.012
R Squared	.374
Adjusted R Squared	.335
RMS Residual	.614

ANOVA Table

Log_XRF_Lead vs. Log_LEAD

	DF	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F-Value	P-Value
Regression	1	3.603	3.603	9.559	.0070
Residual	16	6.032	.377		
Total	17	9.635			

Regression Coefficients Log_XRF_Lead vs. Log_LEAD

	Coefficient	Std. Error	Std. Coeff.	t-Value	P-Value
Intercept	.593	.644	.593	.922	.3704
Log_LEAD	.705	.228	.612	3.092	.0070



Regression Summary Log_XRF_Zinc vs. Log_ZINC Count 18 Num. Missing 0 R .794 R Squared .631 Adjusted R Squared .608

ANOVA Table

RMS Residual

Log_XRF_Zinc vs. Log_ZINC

229

	DF	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F-Value	P-Value
Regression	1	1.433	1.433	27.347	<.0001
Residual	16	.839	.052		
Total	17	2.272			

Regression Coefficients Log_XRF_Zinc vs. Log_ZINC

	Coefficient	Std. Error	Std. Coeff.	t-Value	P-Value
Intercept	.412	.361	.412	1.143	.2698
Log_ZINC	.815	.156	.794	5.229	<.0001



t-STATISTIC & P-VALUE DESCRIPTION

The **t** statistic is used for small samples (less than 30 samples) to determine the probability whether a sample mean is not equal to the expected population mean. In general terms, the greater the value of a t statistic for a given sample size, the stronger the probability a sample mean does not follow the expected population mean (i.e., the sample and population means are different). The **p-value** indicates this probability. The small the p-value, the greater the likelihood that the sample mean does not follow the expected population mean.

LEAST SQUARES REGRESSION DESCRIPTION

Least squares regression describes how two measurement variables are related. Most importantly for the purpose of this exercise, the least squares regression method describes how accurately we can predict the value of one variable (the cause) if we know the value of another variable (the response). The coefficient of determination (R^2) is interpreted as the proportion of the total variation of the response that can be explained by the cause. The rule of thumb for interpreting the R^2 and the correlation coefficient (R) is that there is a strong relationship between the cause and effect if $R^2 > 0.64$ (|R| > 0.8), a moderate relationship if $R^2 > 0.25$ (|R| > 0.5), and a weak relationship if $R^2 > 0.04$ (|R| > 0.2). In this test, the p-value indicates the probability that the observed relationship between the two variables is not false or artificial. The smaller the p-value, the greater the likelihood that the observed relationship is not false.